

# Genetic consequences of conservation management: the case of the arctic fox (*Vulpes lagopus*) in Scandinavia

Elisa June Keeling Hemphill

MSc in Biology Submission date: April 2017 Supervisor: Henrik Jensen, IBI Co-supervisor: Øystein Flagstad, NINA Nina Eide, NINA

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Department of Biology

MASTER OF SCIENCE Norwegian University of Science and Technology Biology

# Genetic consequences of conservation management: the case of the arctic fox (*Vulpes lagopus*) in Scandinavia

Candidate

# **Elisa June Keeling Hemphill**

Supervisor

### Henrik Jensen

NTNU

**Co-Supervisors** 

## Øystein Flagstad

NINA

Nina E. Eide

NINA

### Preface

This thesis is original, unpublished, and written wholly by the author, E. J. K. Hemphill. The project was part of the ECOFUNC project (Understanding ecosystem functionality, expansion, and retreat of species on the Scandinavian mountain tundra under multiple drivers of change), funded by the Norwegian Research Council (grant 244557).

Fieldwork was performed as part of the Norwegian Arctic Fox Monitoring Programme and the Norwegian Arctic Fox Captive Breeding Programme. Both projects are funded by the Norwegain Environment Agency. Molecular analysis was performed at the Norwegian Institute for Nature Research (NINA) in Trondheim.

Cover photo: Morgan Frelsøy, Avisa OPP.

### Acknowledgments

I would like to extend a huge thanks to my supervisors Henrik Jensen, Øystein Flagstad, and Nina E. Eide for the tremendous support they have provided throughout the process of producing this thesis. They have helped with both practical and theoretical matters in all stages of this project, and their dedication has motivated me to keep working through all the ups and downs of being a Masters student.

Special thanks to Line B. Eriksen, Merethe H. Spets, and Torveig Balstad from the genetics lab at NINA for taking the time to go through all the lab protocols with me and for generally making me feel welcome at NINA.

Thank you Astrid, Runa, Kristina, and Nils for keeping me entertained during endless lunch breaks, and for making NTNU a pretty great place to be. Eirik, thank you for being my formatting/technology guru.

Lastly, I would like to thank my friends and family for all the support, wisdom, and encouragement they have provided over the last two years. I would never have made it without you. Special thanks to Tuva for reviewing my thesis and generally being a wonderful friend. Lastly, to Ida, Guro, Astrid, Ragnhild, and Siggy: Thank you for brightening up my life. I did it!

Elisa J. K. Hemphill,

6<sup>th</sup> April 2017

### Abstract

The Arctic fox (Vulpes lagopus) population in Fennoscandia experienced a drastic demographic and genetic bottleneck in the early 20th century as a result of high hunting pressure. In 2000, despite almost 70 years of protection, the population showed no signs of recovery. The failure to recover was attributed to the combined threats of red fox (Vulpes vulpes) competition, instability in the rodent cycles (the Fennoscandian arctic foxes main food source), and the small and fragmented nature of the population, making it highly susceptible to the risks of inbreeding, genetic drift, and Allee effects.

Beginning in 1998 a number of conservation measures were implemented in order to mitigate the population decline and facilitate re-establishment. These measures included supplementary feeding, red fox culling, and the reintroduction of foxes from a captive breeding program. The positive demographic impact of these strategies has been confirmed, and the population has more than doubled in size during the past decade. This study compares microsatellite data across 8 loci in Scandinavian arctic fox samples collected between 2008 and 2015 in three core populations and five stepping stone areas to investigate whether the recent demographic success of the mid-Scandinavian arctic fox population has been complemented by changes in genetic diversity, genetic differentiation, and connectivity between subpopulations.

The results suggest that genetic diversity at the subpopulation level has increased substantially during the last decade, while genetic differentiation among populations has decreased. Patterns of dispersal complement these findings, highlighting the important role of immigration in ensuring subpopulation and metapopulation persistence. A marked shift in the dynamics of the mid-Scandinavian arctic fox population is evident around 2010/2011, with a substantial increase in dispersal in the system. This shift followed the recolonization of a core habitat region through the release of foxes from the captive breeding program and was synchronized in time with conservation efforts such as supplementary feeding and red fox culling in the stepping stone areas between core populations. Indeed, the evidence of increased genetic diversity and connectivity during the last decade indicate a restoration of metapopulation dynamics in the Scandinavian arctic fox population and an increase in the long-term viability of the species.

# Contents

Preface	i
Acknowledgments	iii
Abstract	v
Introduction	3
Materials and Methods	8
Study species, demographic history, and management	8
Data collection and sampling	10
Molecular analyses	12
Quality control and data selection	13
Statistical analyses	16
Results	20
Temporal changes in genetic diversity within subpopulations	20
Influence of conservation efforts on genetic diversity	22
Temporal changes in genetic structure	24
Temporal changes in immigration	30
Discussion	31
References	39
Appendix	53

### Introduction

During the twentieth century, anthropogenic pressures in the form of habitat destruction, over-exploitation, introduced species, and climate change, have caused severe demographic declines and substantial fragmentation of natural populations (Lande 1998; Wilcove et al. 1998; Laurance et al. 2000; Stuart et al. 2004; Corlett 2007; Brook et al. 2008; Vié et al. 2009; Murphy and Romanuk 2014). Habitat fragmentation is a common threat to biodiversity and has been shown to decrease connectivity (Burel et al. 1998) and reduce genetic diversity in a variety of species (Goossens et al. 2006; Nyström et al. 2006; Bellemain et al. 2007). For species occupying fragmented habitats, empirical studies as well as metapopulation- and population genetic theory emphasize the importance of connectivity for maintaining genetic diversity within populations, and preserving the ability of species to rapidly adapt and persist (Stacey and Taper 1992; Hanski and Gilpin 1997; Hanski 1998; Hanski and Gaggiotti 2004; Barrett and Schluter 2008; Stuart et al. 2014).

Dispersal and genetic drift are considered the most prominent processes influencing connectivity and genetic structure in animal populations (Slatkin 1987; Clobert 2012). Theoretically, species with high intrinsic movement capacity are expected to show high connectivity, increased rates of gene flow, and a lower degree of population structuring (Bohonak 1999; Habel et al. 2015). In practice however, realized patterns of movement and structuring may be influenced by behavioral traits (Surridge et al. 1999; Miller et al. 2010), geographical features such as spatial distance, topographic barriers, and fragmentation (Wright 1943; Slatkin 1987; Diffendorfer et al. 1995; Manel et al. 2003; Hartl and Clark 2007; Manel and Holderegger 2013), or historical factors such as colonization, range expansion, or isolation (Hewitt 1996; Taberlet et al. 1998; Templeton 1998; Hewitt 2000). Additionally, an increasing number of studies have revealed cryptic genetic structures that cannot be explained by either geographical or historical factors, but which instead may be explained by ecological factors such as habitat heterogeneity in resource availability, climate, and inter- or intra-specific competition. Interestingly, many of these studies concern populations of highly mobile carnivoran mammals (Rueness, Jorde, et al. 2003; Rueness, Stenseth, et al. 2003; Geffen et al. 2004; Sacks et al. 2004; McRae et al. 2005; Pilot et al. 2006; Sacks et al. 2008).

When connectivity within a metapopulation is restricted, reduced gene flow and increased isolation among subpopulations increases subpopulation vulnerability to genetic drift and inbreeding (Jaenike 1973; Frankham et al. 2002). This results in a reduction in genetic variation within populations, and an increase in genetic differentiation among populations (Wright 1931; Jaenike 1973; Nei et al. 1975; Hanski 1998; Hamilton 2011). Loss of genetic variation and inbreeding may, in turn, reduce individual fitness, the ability to resist disease, and evolutionary potential (Lacy 1997; Altizer et al. 2003; England et al. 2003; Fernández et al. 2004; Spielman et al. 2004; Frankham 2005; Willi et al. 2006). In extreme cases, the fitness reduction resulting from genetic drift and inbreeding depression can produce a negative feedback loop or vortex, reducing population size and genetic diversity further (Gilpin and Soulé 1986; Fagan and Holmes 2006). The result is a reduction in long-term population viability, which may ultimately lead to extinction (Gilpin and Soulé 1986; Caughley 1994; Waser and Williams 2001; Keller and Waller 2002; Fagan and Holmes 2006).

Given widespread and continuing habitat fragmentation and population declines (Wilcove et al. 1998; Jenkins 2003; Kinnaird et al. 2003; Vié et al. 2009; Murphy and Romanuk 2014; Ducatez and Shine 2017), preventative and corrective measures may be the only viable solution to avoid extinction of highly endangered species (Che-Castaldo and Neel 2016). The establishment and/or maintenance of habitat corridors and "stepping-stone" habitat patches for endangered species are two such preventative measures that can maintain or restore connectivity (Riordan et al. 2015; Suarez-Rubio et al. 2015). The use of corridors and stepping stones has been shown to increase movement rates of terrestrial mammals (Mech and Hallett 2001) and to increase gene flow, thereby alleviating genetic threats (Aars and Ims 1999; Hale et al. 2001; Carroll et al. 2014). Likewise, reintroduction and translocation of individuals between subpopulations may augment gene flow, thus maintaining genetic variation and mitigating the negative consequences of inbreeding depression (Storfer 1999; IUCN 2012). These strategies have for instance been successfully used to re-establish a viable grey wolf population in Yellowstone national park (Smith et al. 2003;

Vonholdt et al. 2008), and to facilitate genetic rescue of the Florida panther (Johnson et al. 2010). Despite these examples, however, success rates of translocations, reintroductions, and supplementations are highly variable between species, and numerous studies indicate that relocations are not always successful (Fischer and Lindenmayer 2000; Weeks et al. 2011).

The arctic fox (*Vulpes lagopus*) is a medium sized arctic carnivore exhibiting a typical metapopulation structure in the Fennoscandian mountain tundra ecoregion (Herfindal et al. 2010). In Fennoscandia, arctic foxes prey mainly on cyclic rodents, and their population dynamics are tightly linked to the 3- to 5-year rodent cycles (Angerbjörn et al. 1995; Henden et al. 2009). Like many large carnivores in Scandinavia, the arctic fox population experienced a major demographic and genetic bottleneck in the late 19<sup>th</sup>/early 20<sup>th</sup> century (Collett 1912; Tannerfeldt and Angerbjörn 1998) as a result of excessive hunting associated with a lucrative fur trade (Lönnberg 1927; Østbye et al. 1978; Linnell et al. 1999; Nyström et al. 2006). After being recognized as endangered in the late 1920's (Lönnberg 1927; Sømme 1932; Høst 1935), the arctic fox was protected by law in Sweden (1928), Norway (1930) and Finland (1938). Despite protected status, however, the population showed little or no indication of population recovery during the following decades (Østbye et al. 1978; Hersteinsson et al. 1989; Angerbjörn et al. 1995; Kaikusalo and Angerbjörn 1995; Tannerfeldt et al. 2002).

While former persecution is accepted as the primary cause of the original population decline (Linnell et al. 2004), a combination of other factors may have influenced the failed recovery of the arctic fox population and may continue to threaten their persistence. Interspecific competition and intraguild predation from red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) have been documented to affect the arctic fox negatively (Elmhagen et al. 2002; Tannerfeldt et al. 2002; Pamperin et al. 2006; Selås and Vik 2007; Henden et al. 2010; Rodnikova et al. 2011), as has low food availability caused by fading rodent cycles (Angerbjörn et al. 2001; Ims et al. 2008; Henden et al. 2009; Elmhagen et al. 2011; Cornulier et al. 2013). Furthermore, the small and fragmented nature of the remaining arctic fox subpopulations increase their vulnerability to further population decline as a result of Allee effects (i.e., negative population growth rates at low population size) and inbreeding depression (Loison et al. 2001; Herfindal et al.

2010; Angerbjörn et al. 2013). Climate change may also play a role by reinforcing the aforementioned influences (Fuglei and Ims 2008). In parallel with climate change, the amplitude and regularity of rodent cycles have diminished (Ims et al. 2008; Kausrud et al. 2008; Elmhagen et al. 2011), and increased productivity in alpine regions has facilitated the invasion of red foxes into historically arctic fox dominated habitat (Hersteinsson and Macdonald 1992; Tannerfeldt et al. 2002).

At the end of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, the entire Fennoscandian arctic fox population was estimated at less than 120 adult individuals (Linnell et al. 1999; Kaikusalo 2000; Elmhagen et al. 2004; Sillero-Zubiri et al. 2004), and possibly as few as 40 -60 individuals (Angerbjörn et al. 2013), divided into three relatively isolated subpopulations (Dalén et al. 2006; Nyström et al. 2006). As the population showed no sign of recovery, it was increasingly evident that some form of active intervention would be necessary to save the arctic fox population from extinction (Linnell et al. 1999; Loison et al. 2001). Beginning in 1998, a number of large-scale conservation actions were implemented in several regions of the Fennoscandian mountain tundra with the goal of mitigating threats associated with increased red fox competition and food resource decline (Direktoratet for Naturforvaltning 2003; Elmhagen 2008). These actions included red fox culling to reduce competition and intraguild interactions, and supplementary feeding to increase arctic fox survival and reproduction (Angerbjörn et al. 2013). Additionally, the Norwegian Arctic Fox Captive Breeding Programme was established with the aim of re-establishing extinct arctic fox populations, strengthening small populations, and facilitating gene flow to reduce the risks of Allee effects and inbreeding depression (Linnell et al. 2004; Landa et al. 2017).

Several studies have confirmed the positive demographic effect of both supplementary feeding and red fox culling, reporting that red fox culling allowed an increase in arctic fox activity (Angerbjörn et al. 2003; Hamel et al. 2013), while supplementary feeding led to an increase in den occupancy, reproduction, litter size and number, and short-term pup survival (Angerbjörn et al. 1991; Tannerfeldt et al. 1994; Angerbjörn et al. 2003; Angerbjörn et al. 2013; Meijer et al. 2013). Additionally, the release of captive-bred individuals through the Norwegian Arctic Fox Captive Breeding Programme was highly successful and resulted in recolonization of three

6

historically inhabited arctic fox habitats, one of which is currently the largest arctic fox subpopulation in Norway (Ulvund et al. 2016; Landa et al. 2017). In 2015 a minimum of 127 arctic fox litters were born in Sweden and Norway, giving a minimum population size estimate of 254 adult foxes in Scandinavia (Eide et al. 2015). This was more than double, and possible four times greater than the estimated population size in 2000 (Angerbjörn et al. 2013).

While this demographic success provides optimism for the future viability of the arctic fox population, the genetic consequences of the implemented conservation actions have not yet been investigated. Theoretically, increasing connectivity and population size should lead to an increase in genetic diversity and long-term population viability (Ibrahim et al. 1996; Austerlitz et al. 1997; Ramakrishnan et al. 2010). However, despite demographic recovery, populations may still suffer from reduced genetic diversity due to genetic drift that occurs at reduced population size (Groombridge et al. 2000; Larson et al. 2002). Additionally, invasive management strategies such as translocation and reintroduction are associated with a number of risks including "contamination" or genetic swamping of unique remnant subpopulations (Berg 1982; Bertram and Moltu 1986; Sale 1986; Price 1989; Johnson 1990), as well as loss of genetic diversity due to small founder population size (Nei et al. 1975; Berry 1986; Lenney Williams et al. 2002; Maudet et al. 2002). Understanding how conservation actions affect spatial genetic structuring and levels of genetic diversity within fragmented populations is thus essential for understanding the effects of conservation on population viability (Allendorf and Luikart 2009; Hamilton 2011) and evaluating future conservation priorities.

In the present study, I will investigate genetic diversity and genetic structure in the fragmented mid-Scandinavian arctic fox population, with the aim of assessing (i) the extent to which genetic diversity and structure have changed during the past decade (from 2008 to 2015), (ii) how conservation efforts and rodent dynamics have influenced these potential genetic changes, and (iii) how the number and origin of dispersers have varied temporally.

### Materials and Methods

#### Study species, demographic history, and management

The arctic fox (*Vulpes lagopus*) is a medium sized arctic carnivore with a circumpolar distribution in tundra and alpine habitats (Angerbjörn and Tannerfeldt 2014). Arctic foxes are highly adapted to arctic conditions (Fuglei and Ims 2008), and are found in two habitat dependent ecotypes – the "lemming fox" and the "coastal fox" (Braestrup 1941). In Fennoscandia, the arctic fox belongs to the lemming ecotype, feeding primarily on cyclic rodents such as lemmings and voles (Braestrup 1941; Elmhagen et al. 2000). As a result of this specialization, arctic foxes reproduce almost exclusively in the increase and peak phases of the rodent cycle, and population density varies greatly between years (Angerbjörn et al. 1995; Tannerfeldt and Angerbjörn 1998; Strand et al. 1999). Arctic foxes are capable of long-distance movements of more than 1000km (Eberhardt and Hansson 1978; Garrott and Eberhardt 1987; Strand et al. 2000). Such long distance dispersal movements are particularly common in "lemming" foxes (Angerbjörn et al. 2004; Dalén et al. 2005) and occur primarily in years with low lemming density (Braestrup 1941; Wrigley and Hatch 1976).

Following the dramatic population decline in the late 1800s, the once abundant arctic fox population was reduced to only a few hundred individuals distributed across a series of naturally fragmented "habitat islands" (Zetterberg 1945). The low-density populations that remained were more or less isolated, and many disappeared entirely in the post-protection period (Linnell et al. 1999). Between 1988 and 1998, breeding and activity reported Hardangervidda, Snøhetta. were at Børgefjell/Borgafjäll, Kjølifjellet, Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet, Hestkjølen, Saltfjellet, Dividalen, Sylane/Helags and Finnmark (Linnell et al. 1999; Direktoratet for Naturforvaltning 2003). However, the population at Børgefjell/Borgafjäll was the only stable population during this period (Linnell et al. 1999), and the population at Snøhetta appeared to have gone extinct in the mid-1990s (Linnell et al. 2004).

Between 1998 and 2008, the EU/LIFE projects SEFALO (1998-2002) and SEFALO+ (2003-2008) implemented supplementary feeding and red fox culling in several

Swedish mountain tundra regions including Helags, Borgafjäll, and Vindelfjällen (Angerbjörn et al. 2013). Between 2010 and 2014 the "Felles Fjellrev" project continued the implementation of red fox culling and supplementary feeding in the aforementioned Swedish regions, additionally implementing the same measures in intermediate "stepping stone" areas between core arctic fox subpopulations in the Norwegian mountain regions Knutshø, Kjølifjellet, Forollhogna, Hestkjølen, and Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet (Ericson 2014). The aim of the intervention was to stimulate dispersal between subpopulations and encourage recolonization of previously inhabited arctic fox territories.

The Norwegian Arctic Fox Captive Breeding Programme was established in 2005 (Linnell et al. 1999; Landa et al. 2017). Breeding adults for the program were captured as pups from the seven remaining subpopulations in Fennoscandia (n = 12 original founders) and crossed after careful genetic consideration. The principle focus was to maintain a healthy balance between founder lineages, thereby maintaining genetic diversity from throughout Fennoscandia (Landa et al. 2017). The first release of foxes from the captive breeding program occurred in 2006 at Saltfjellet in northern Norway (n = 2)(Landa et al. 2017). Since then, a total of 301 captive-bred foxes have been released at Saltfjellet (n = 65), Sylane (n = 5), Knutshø (n = 18), Snøhetta (n = 67), Finse (n = 74), and Hardangervidda (n = 72) (Ulvund et al. 2016; Landa et al. 2017). Supplementary feeding was implemented in release regions to encourage demographic growth after release (Angerbjörn et al. 2013). Furthermore, captive-bred foxes were released in January and February, after the harsh fall season when food is scarce and mortality among juveniles and adults is high (Meijer et al. 2008).

Since 1998, the intensity and implementation of red fox culling, supplementary feeding, and captive release have varied both spatially (between subpopulations) and temporally. At Børgefjell/Borgafjäll, both supplementary feeding and red fox culling were implemented, but no captive-bred individuals were released into the population (Angerbjörn et al. 2013; Ulvund et al. 2016). In contrast, released captive-bred individuals, many of whom had a genetic background from Børgefjell/Borgafjäll, were the founders of the re-established Snøhetta population (Landa et al. 2017). Furthermore, supplementary feeding was routinely carried out at Snøhetta following

the first release of captive-bred foxes in 2007, but red fox culling was never implemented (Ulvund et al. 2016). The population at Sylane/Helags experienced relatively strong management efforts throughout the study period, including supplementary feeding, red fox culling, and the release of a small number of captivebred individuals (n = 5) (Ulvund et al. 2016). Finally, no captive-bred individuals were released in the "stepping stone" subpopulations, with the exception of 18 individuals released at Knutshø in 2008 (n = 4) and 2011 (n = 14) (Ulvund et al. 2016). All other recolonization events between 2008 and 2015 were thus the result of natural dispersal and establishment. For a detailed background of the genetic/geographic background of all captive-bred released foxes, see the Appendix, Table A1. For a full overview of the conservation actions implemented in the study area from 1999 onwards and the annual rodent abundance from 1999 onwards, see the Appendix, Table A2.

#### Data collection and sampling

The arctic fox samples analyzed in this study originate from eight subpopulations across mid-Scandinavia (Fig. 1) and were obtained during annual surveys of all known active den sites between 2008 and 2015. The sampling sites comprise the majority of suitable arctic fox habitat in mid-Scandinavia, covering an area of 10 300 km<sup>2</sup>, and a linear distance North to South of 350 km. The populations at Børgefjell/Borgafjäll, Snøhetta, and Sylane/Helags are referred to as "core" subpopulations as they supported relatively large and stable populations throughout the study period. The remaining populations are referred to as "stepping stone" subpopulations, as they may play a role in facilitating dispersal between core populations. Many of the stepping stone subpopulations were recolonized during the course of the study, and as such, population sizes are low throughout the study.



**Figure 1.** Map of the mountain tundra region in mid-Scandinavia. Dark green areas show the current distribution of the arctic fox, fragmented into eight subpopulations: Snøhetta, Knutshø, Forollhogna, Kjølifjellet, Sylane/Helags, Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet, Hestkjølen, and Børgefjell/Borgafjäll. Black triangles indicate geographical sampling locations (den sites) of arctic fox samples collected in mid-Scandinavia between 2008 and 2015. The inset map shows the location of all 645 known den localities in Scandinavia.

In Norway, hair and fecal samples (n = 2620) were collected between 2008 and 2015 from from Snøhetta (n = 840), Knutshø (n = 109), Forollhogna (n = 49), Kjølifjellet (n = 214), Sylane (n = 341), Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet (n = 125), Hestkjølen (n = 284), and Børgefjell (n = 658) as part of the national arctic fox monitoring program (Eide et al. 2015). Since mortality rates among young foxes are high during summer and early fall (Garrott and Eberhardt 1982; Tannerfeldt and Angerbjörn 1996; Loison et al. 2001; Meijer et al. 2008), the majority of fecal samples were collected between November 1<sup>st</sup> and June 1<sup>st</sup>. This ensured samples collected between November 1<sup>st</sup> in year t and June 1<sup>st</sup> in year t + 1 provided a reliable estimate of the genetic composition of the adult (i.e. potentially reproductive) population for year t + 1. In Swedish populations, tissue samples were collected each summer from live-caught pups within the Swedish Arctic Fox Conservation Program during annual ear-marking, and fecal samples were collected in winter during systematic den surveys. Swedish samples were processed at the University of Stockholm, and complete genotypes for n = 290 tissue samples and n = 47 fecal samples were provided to supplement our data for populations occurring along the Norwegian/Swedish border: Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet (including Sösjöfjällen on the Swedish side of the border), Sylane/Helags and Børgefjell/Borgafjäll. In order to incorporate the genetic profiles from the tissue samples of Swedish pups into my data set, it was again necessary to account for high pup mortality. To accomplish this, samples from two random pups per litter in year t were selected and used as proxies for the genetic variation represented by their parents in that year. The rest of the samples from each den were excluded from the analyses.

Further supplementation of the dataset was accomplished through review of recapture data from Biomark and Trovan chip readers which record the activity of biochip-marked foxes at the feeding stations (Landa et al. 2017). This allowed confirmation of fox survival and presence for years when physical samples (hair or feces) were lacking. To avoid overestimating population size or survival based on the Biomark and Trovan chip recapture data, only individuals recorded after the 1<sup>st</sup> of February each year were included in the final dataset. Finally, individual presence was included for intermediate years between recordings, so that for example, if an individual was registered in year t and year *t*+3, their presence was added in years *t*+1 and *t*+2. All individuals were only recorded in one subpopulation per year, and intermediate recordings (ex. *t*+1 and *t*+2) were assigned to the population in which they had been recorded in previous and subsequent years (ex. *t* and *t*+3).

#### Molecular analyses

Genomic DNA from n = 2100 Norwegian fecal samples was extracted using FastDNA's SPIN Kit for Soil following the manufacturer's protocol, and from hair samples using the DNeasy Tissue Kit (Qiagen, GmbH, Hilden, Germany) as described by Gagneux et al. (1997). Extracted DNA from all fecal samples was determined for species origin (arctic fox, red fox, or wolverine) following the feces identification method described

by Dalén et al. (2004). Fecal DNA extraction and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) setup were performed in a work area at NINA (Trondheim, Norway) dedicated for low-copy number DNA extractions, in a room separated from the post-PCR laboratory. One negative control well was used in each 96 well PCR plate to monitor for contamination during extraction. Microsatellite variation in DNA from hair and fecal samples was analyzed for 11 polymorphic loci previously developed and shown to be variable for the arctic fox: CPH3, CPH9, CPH15 (Fredholm and Winterø 1995), CXX140, CXX173, CXX250 (Ostrander et al. 1993), 377, 606, 671, 758 and 771 (Ostrander et al. 1995). Amplification of DNA extracted from feces was carried out in 8.4 µl reactions containing 2.0 µl of DNA extract, 4.0 µl Qiagen multiplex mix, 1.6 µl RNase-free water, and 0.8 µl primer mix. The primer mix contained forward and reverse primers for all 11 microsatellite markers, giving final primer concentrations of 0.06 µM (CXX140), 0.08 µM (CPH9, CXX173, 606, 671), 0.15 µM (CPH3, CPH15, CXX250, 377, 771), and 0.19 µM (758). PCR amplifications were performed using a Veriti 96-Well Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems). For the fecal samples, the following cycle parameters were used: 95 °C for 15min, followed by 35 cycles of 95 °C for 30 s, 57 °C for 90 s, and 72 °C for 60 s, followed by 60 °C for 30 min. The resulting PCR products were separated electrophoretically on an ABI 3130xl Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems), using GeneScan-500 LIZ DNA Size Standard (Applied Biosystems). PCR set up and amplification for hair samples was carried out following the procedures outlined by Norén et al. (2005, 2016).

The low quality and small number of DNA copies in fecal and hair samples can cause allelic dropout during PCR (Gagneux et al. 1997). To control for this, each amplification was replicated three times. The results from genotyping were scored and interpreted using the software GENEMAPPER 4.0 (Applied Biosystems). Consensus genotypes were then constructed from the replicated PCR runs using the threshold rule that alleles had to appear at least twice to be accepted as heterozygous genotypes, and three times to be accepted as homozygous genotypes.

#### Quality control and data selection

Of the n = 2100 Norwegian samples analyzed, n = 1543 samples were confirmed to be of arctic fox origin, and n = 945 samples were successfully amplified and genotyped for at least eight of the eleven loci. Following combination with the supplemental data from Sweden, all sample genotypes were matched using the Excel MS TOOLKIT 3.1 (Park 2001) to detect and exclude all within year repeats. The combined Norwegian/Swedish dataset had large amounts of missing data at locus *CPH15*, 606 and 671 (25%, 22%, and 21% respectively) and these loci were thus excluded from further analyses. After further supplementing the dataset with recapture data and data for intermediate years, the final dataset included *n* = 868 observations of *n* = 606 unique individuals from eight subpopulations between 2008 and 2015 (with a maximum of 4 % missing data per locus). Annual minimum population size estimates for all sampled subpopulations are shown in Figure 2, and a summary of this data is available in the Appendix (Table A3).





To check the quality and reliability of the final microsatellite dataset, tests for null alleles, large allelic dropout, scoring errors due to stutter, deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE), and linkage disequilibrium (LD) were performed for each population across all sampling years, including only unique multilocus genotypes. The probability of two individuals in a population sharing an identical multilocus genotype, or Probability of Identity (PI), was calculated per population per year. The probability of null allele presence, large allelic dropout, or scoring errors due to stutter was tested within a 95% confidence interval using the software MICRO-CHECKER 2.2.3 (Van Oosterhout et al. 2004). Probability of Identity (PI) was calculated using GENALEX 6.5 (Peakall and Smouse 2006, 2012). Potential deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) and linkage disequilibrium (LD) between pairs of loci were tested using Markov chain exact tests (1000 dememorization steps, 5000 batches with 10000 iterations per batch) in GENEPOP 4.2 (Raymond and Rousset 1995; Rousset 2008). To account for the multiple comparisons performed, the Bonferroni correction (Dunn 1961; Rice 1989) was applied to both HWE tests and pairwise LD tests.

Across all years, the probability of two individuals in a population sharing an identical multilocus genotype was  $< 3.5 \times 10^{-4}$ . Estimates of null allele frequencies suggested possible null alleles in four loci in three populations. However, since null alleles are likely to occur systematically in the same loci across populations and this was not observed, it was considered unlikely that this deviation was due to non-amplified alleles. All loci were therefore retained based on this quality control. After applying the Bonferroni correction (Bonferroni corrected *p*-value = 0.008), three loci in three populations showed significant departures from HWE frequencies (see Appendix, Table A4). As deviation was only detected in 4 out of 64 possible locus-population combinations (8 loci X 8 populations), and no systematic deviation was evident across populations, all loci were retained based on this test. Results of the pairwise LD tests (Bonferroni corrected p-value = 0.0002) revealed significant linkage between 17 pairs of loci distributed across four subpopulations (see Appendix, Table A5). More than 50% of the linked locus pairs occurred in the Snøhetta population. However, since none of the loci were consistently linked across subpopulations and deviation was only detected in 31 out of 224 possible locus pair -population combinations (28 locus pairs X 8 populations), all eight loci were kept for subsequent analyses. These initial tests are in accordance with previous genetic studies of the Scandinavian arctic fox which have described variation at these loci and verified their

independence and reliability (Norén et al. 2005; Dalén et al. 2006; Nyström et al. 2006).

#### Statistical analyses

Using GENALEX 6.5 (Peakall and Smouse 2006, 2012), yearly estimates of genetic diversity for each subpopulation were calculated as the average number of alleles per locus (hereafter referred to as average allelic diversity,  $n_A$ ), average unbiased expected heterozygosity (hereafter referred to as average expected heterozygosity,  $H_E$ ), and average observed heterozygosity ( $H_0$ ). Furthermore, average individual multilocus heterozygosity ( $I_{MLH}$ ) was calculated in R (R Core Team 2016) as the proportion of heterozygous loci observed, divided by the total number of loci typed for each individual (Hansson et al. 2004), and averaged for each population each year. Genetic differentiation among subpopulations ( $F_{ST}$ ; Wier and Cockerham 1984) was estimated annually at the metapopulation level, and for subpopulation pairs (pairwise  $F_{ST}$ ) using GENALEX 6.5 (Peakall and Smouse 2006, 2012). All diversity and differentiation parameters were tested for normality and homogeneity of variance prior to further analyses.

As the arctic fox has a generation length of four years (Linnell et al. 2004), many individuals were represented in multiple sampling years. This created non-independence in diversity and differentiation estimates between years, and as such, parameter estimates and *p*-values from linear regression analyses would have to be interpreted with caution. In order to account for this non-independence, significant temporal variation in diversity and differentiation estimates was assessed by comparing a subset of data including all unique individuals present in 2008/2009 (*n* = 90) to a subset of data including all unique individuals present in 2014/2015 (*n* = 288), using a linear mixed model approach in the *lme4* package in R (Bates et al. 2014; R Core Team 2016). Only three individuals were present in both 2008/2009 and 2014/2015, and estimates from these two time periods were therefore assumed to be independent.

For diversity parameters measured at the locus level ( $n_A$ ,  $H_E$ ,  $H_0$ ), differences in average population level diversity between the two sampling periods (2008/2009 vs 2014/2015) were tested including locus as a random factor and population as a fixed

factor. For average  $I_{\text{MLH}}$ , differences in average population estimates between sampling periods (2008/2009 vs 2014/2015) were tested including population as a fixed factor. Significant interactions between sampling period and population were also tested for all diversity parameters. For the stepping stone populations, insufficient data from 2008/2009 made statistical analysis of temporal change in these subpopulations unreliable. For this reason, temporal differences in genetic diversity between 2008/2009 and 2014/2015 were only tested for the three core populations: Børgefjell/Borgafjäll, Snøhetta, and Sylane/Helags.

To investigate the effects of management efforts (supplemental feeding, red fox culling, and population supplementation/reintroduction) and rodent abundance on inter-annual change in genetic diversity, I composed global models for each diversity parameter ( $n_A$ ,  $H_E$ ,  $H_O$ ,  $I_{MLH}$ ). In the global models, supplemental feeding, red fox culling and the release of captive-bred individuals were included as continuous covariates, while rodent phase and population were included as fixed factors (Equation 1). Data from all eight subpopulations were included in these analyses.

#### (1) $\Delta Diversity \sim DensFed_t + RedCulled + ReleasedFoxes_t + RodentPhase_t + Population$

Inter-annual changes in the respective diversity parameters were calculated by subtracting estimates in year t from estimates in year t+1. Supplementary feeding, red fox culling, and population supplementation/reintroduction were quantified as the number of dens fed (DensFed), the number of red foxes culled (RedCulled), and the number of captive-bred individuals released (ReleasedFoxes) annually in each population, respectively. Rodent abundance (RodentPhase) was classified into four phases: (1) low, (2) increase, (3) peak, and (4) decline, following Angerbjörn et al. (2013). For each diversity parameter, I started by testing the global model that included the main effects of all the factors and covariates. I then proceeded to test all the models nested within the global model using the R package *gmulti* (Calcagno and de Mazancourt 2010; R Core Team 2016). To select the most appropriate model explaining variation in inter-annual change in each of the diversity parameters, I used a modification of Akaike's information criterion (AIC) suitable for small sample sizes (AICc; Burnham and Anderson 2002) and examined  $r^2$  values. The model with the lowest AICc value was assumed to be the most parsimonious model (i.e. the

"best" model). To further examine the relative likelihood of each model given the data and the set of tested models, I calculated the Akaike weights, *w<sub>i</sub>*, of each model *i*. According to Burnham and Anderson (2002), when models deviated with less than two AICc-units from the best model, and the Akaike weight is small, the most biologically relevant model should be chosen. Based on this knowledge, all models with AICc values within two AICc-units of the best model were retained and considered in my presentation of the results.

To investigate temporal variation in the population structure of the arctic fox in mid-Scandinavia, I tested for differences in estimates of metapopulation level  $F_{ST}$  and pairwise  $F_{ST}$ , respectively, between the two sampling periods (2008/2009 and 2014/2015). To test differences in metapopulation level  $F_{ST}$ , I used a linear mixed model approach in the *lme4* package in R (Bates et al. 2014; R Core Team 2016), including locus as a random factor. Differences in pairwise  $F_{ST}$  estimates between the two sampling periods for comparisons between core populations, and core and stepping stone populations were tested using a linear model approach, and pairwise t-tests in R (R Core Team 2016). Temporal variation in pairwise  $F_{ST}$  between stepping stone populations was not evaluated due to insufficient data from 2008/2009.

To identify genetic clusters in the metapopulation, a Bayesian Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) approach was employed using the software STRUCTURE 2.3.4 (Pritchard et al. 2000). The program calculates the log likelihood Pr(X|K), i.e. the probability of the observed genotypes (*X*) given a pre-assigned number of genetic clusters (*K*) in a dataset, and assigns individuals to population clusters accordingly. For each year (2008 to 2015), I independently ran an admixture model with correlated allele frequencies, without using sampling location as a prior. The predetermined number of clusters ranged from one to eight, to include all potential geographical clusters, and ten independent runs were performed for each predefined number of clusters tested. Each run was performed with a burn-in length of 200 000 steps and 500 000 MCMC iterations. To interpret the results from STRUCTURE, I first calculated the probability of each *K* (P(*K*|*X*)) according to the recommendations from Pritchard et al. (2000). Thereafter, I followed the recommendations by Evanno et al. (2005) to determine the most probable number of clusters each year (based on the calculation of the  $\Delta K$  statistic). Finally, the 10 replicates for each year's STRUCTURE analysis were further

summarized using the software CLUMPP 1.1.2 (Jakobsson and Rosenberg 2007). To further investigate the genetic population structure, a principle component analysis (PCA) was performed separately for each year (2008 to 2015) using the R package *adegenet* (Jombart 2008; Jombart and Ahmed 2011; R Core Team 2016).

To determine the origin (local or immigrant) of arctic fox recruits between 2009 and 2015, I used the maximum likelihood assignment test method implemented in ONCOR (Kalinowski et al. 2007). Based on the results of the aforementioned STRUCTURE analysis, two reference clusters were predefined. In ONCOR, the *Individual Assignment* option was then used to assign each of the new recruits for a particular year (t) to the two predefined genetic clusters, based on baseline allele frequencies of these clusters in the previous year (t-1). Thus immigrants from 2008 to 2009 were identified by testing assignment of all recruits from the 2008 cohort (i.e. born in 2008 and recorded as present in 2009 and/or later) to each of the clusters in 2008. For assigning a recruit to a cluster, we used a threshold value (Q) of 0.9. Individuals that assigned (Q > 0.9) to a cluster other than that in which they were sampled were considered immigrants.

### Results

#### Temporal changes in genetic diversity within subpopulations

A general increase in average allelic diversity ( $n_A$ ) was observed across all core populations (Børgefjell/Borgafjäll, Snøhetta, Sylane/Helags) between 2008 and 2015 (Fig. 3a). Average  $n_A$  at both Børgefjell/Borgafjäll and Snøhetta increased gradually over time and was significantly higher in 2014/2015 than in 2008/2009 for both populations (Table 1). At Sylane/Helags, average  $n_A$  was lower than at either Børgefjell/Borgafjäll and Snøhetta in 2008/2009 (vs. Børgefjell/Borgafjäll: t = -2.594, p < 0.05; vs. Snøhetta: t = -2.075, p = 0.057), although this difference was only significant for the Sylane/Helags – Børgefjell/Borgafjäll comparison. Between 2008/2009 and 2014/2015, average  $n_A$  at Sylane/Helags increased by more than 50% (t = 5.351, p < 0.01; Table 1). As a consequence, average  $n_A$  at Sylane/Helags was the same as at both Børgefjell/Borgafjäll (t = 0.288, p = 0.778) and Snøhetta (t = 1.000, p = 1.000) by 2014/2015. In the stepping stone populations, average  $n_A$ also showed a general pattern of increase over time (Fig. 3b). However, high temporal variation associated with founder effects and small population sizes made interpretation of trends difficult.



**Figure 3.** Annual changes in average allelic diversity ( $n_A$ ) between 2008 and 2015 in (a) core and (b) stepping stone arctic fox subpopulations in mid-Scandinavia. Dotted lines indicate interpolated values for intermediate years with missing data.

**Table 1**. Mean, and mean difference in four measures of genetic diversity (allelic diversity ( $n_A$ ), expected heterozygosity ( $H_E$ ), observed heterozygosity ( $H_O$ ), and individual multilocus heterozygosity ( $I_{MLH}$ )) as estimated in three core arctic fox subpopulations in mid-Scandinavia in 2008/2009 and 2014/2015. *p*-values < 0.05 are indicated in bold.

		2008/2009	2014/2015	5 Difference			
Parameter	Population	Mean ± SE	Mean ± SE	Mean±SE	df	t-value	<i>p</i> -value
n <sub>A</sub>	Børgefjell/Borgafjäll	4.750 ± 0.412	5.250 ± 0.453	0.500 ± 0.189	7	2.646	0.033
	Snøhetta	4.500 ± 0.423	$5.375 \pm 0.498$	$0.875 \pm 0.227$	7	3.862	0.006
	Sylane/ Helags	3.500 ± 0.327	5.375 ± 0.324	1.875 ± 0.350	7	5.351	0.001
H <sub>E</sub>	Børgefjell/Borgafjäll	0.586 ± 0.039	0.613 ± 0.031	0.027 ± 0.032	7	0.844	0.426
	Snøhetta	0.641 ± 0.050	0.676 ± 0.046	$0.035 \pm 0.032$	7	1.099	0.308
	Sylane/ Helags	0.576 ± 0.055	$0.609 \pm 0.044$	$0.033 \pm 0.029$	7	1.131	0.295
Ho	Børgefjell/Borgafjäll	0.589 ± 0.048	0.608 ± 0.043	0.020 ± 0.051	7	0.390	0.708
	Snøhetta	0.699 ± 0.066	0.704 ± 0.053	$0.005 \pm 0.063$	7	0.080	0.939
	Sylane/ Helags	0.601 ± 0.061	0.584 ± 0.047	-0.018 ± 0.038	7	-0.461	0.658
I <sub>MLH</sub>	Børgefjell/Borgafjäll	0.589 ± 0.034	0.606 ± 0.023	0.017 ± 0.040	90	0.423	0.673
	Snøhetta	$0.699 \pm 0.035$	0.704 ± 0.017	$0.005 \pm 0.040$	111	0.115	0.908
	Sylane/Helags	0.602 ± 0.031	0.583 ± 0.021	-0.018 ± 0.039	110	-0.469	0.640

Neither average expected heterozygosity  $(H_{\rm E})$  or average observed heterozygosity (*H*<sub>0</sub>) showed any significant difference between 2008/2009 and 2014/2015 in any of the core subpopulations (Fig. 4a, c; Table 1). At Børgefjell/Borgafjäll and Sylane/Helags, average  $H_0$  showed high inter-annual variation, while average  $H_E$ and  $H_0$  at Snøhetta remained relatively high and stable throughout the study period (Fig. 4a, c). Average  $H_0$  was significantly higher at Snøhetta than at both Børgefjell/Borgafjäll and Sylane/Helags throughout the study period (vs. Børgefjell/Borgafjäll: t = 2.101, p < 0.05; vs. Sylane/Helags: t = 2.213, p < 0.05), while there was no significant difference in average  $H_{\rm E}$  (vs. Børgefjell/Borgafjäll: t = 1.554, p = 0.129; vs. Sylane/Helags: t = 1.731, p = 0.092). The stepping stone subpopulations showed a general increase in average  $H_{\rm E}$  over time (Fig. 4b, 4d). However, interpretation of trends in both average  $H_E$  and average  $H_0$  was difficult due to high temporal variation associated with founder effects and small population size. Average individual heterozygosity ( $I_{MLH}$ ) showed a temporal trend similar to average  $H_0$  in both the core and stepping stone subpopulations but displayed slightly less within year variance (see Table 1).

#### Influence of conservation efforts on genetic diversity

The analyses revealed that the most parsimonious models explaining variation in all four measures of genetic diversity ( $H_E$ ,  $H_0$ ,  $n_A$ ,  $I_{MLH}$ ) included only the intercept (Table 2). As one or two models had AICc-values within two AICc-units of the most parsimonious model for each diversity measure, these models were also considered as relevant in explaining the observed variation in genetic diversity (Burnham and Anderson 2002). The number of red foxes shot, the number of captive-bred foxes released, and the rodent phase were included in multiple "top-ranked" models (i.e.  $\Delta AICc < 2$ ), however none of these parameters explained significant proportions of the observed inter-annual variation in the respective diversity measures (Table 3), and the majority of the models explained less than 2% of the total variance ( $r^2$  values from Table 2). Rodent phase explained between 14 -16 % of the observed inter-annual variation in  $H_0$  and  $I_{MLH}$  ( $r^2$  of model 2, Table 2c;  $r^2$  of model 2, Table 2d), and was the only variable displaying near-significant parameter effect sizes (Table 3).



**Figure 4.** Annual changes in average expected heterozygosity ( $H_E$ ) in (a) core and (b) stepping stone arctic fox subpopulations, and average observed heterozygosity ( $H_O$ ) in (c) core and (d) stepping stone arctic fox subpopulations in mid-Scandinavia between 2008 and 2015. Dotted lines indicate interpolated values for intermediate years with missing data.

**Table 2.** AICc ranking of generalized linear models testing whether conservation efforts (DensFed, RedCulled, ReleasedFoxes) and rodent phase (RodentPhase) explain variation in inter-annual variation in four measures of genetic diversity in mid-Scandinavian arctic fox populations between 2008 and 2015. Only models within 2 AICc-units of the best model for each diversity parameter are shown here. The measures of genetic diversity are (a) average allelic diversity ( $n_A$ ), (b) average expected heterozygosity ( $H_E$ ), (c) average observed heterozygosity ( $H_O$ ), and (d) average individual multilocus heterozygosity ( $I_{MLH}$ ). AICc for the top-ranked models (Rank 1) were (a) 93.06, (b) - 21.99, (c) -65.90 and (d) -64.83.

	Rank	Models	K	∆AICc	wAICc	r <sup>2</sup>
(a) n <sub>A</sub>						
	1	Intercept	1	0	0.349	0.0
	2	RedCulled	2	1.636	0.154	0.019
	3	ReleasedFoxes	2	1.705	0.149	0.017
(b) H <sub>E</sub>						
	1	Intercept	1	0	0.397	0.0
	2	RedCulled	2	1.8	0.162	0.015
( <b>c</b> ) H <sub>0</sub>						
	1	Intercept	1	0	0.275	0.0
	2	RodentPhase	4	0.893	0.176	0.160
	3	RedCulled	2	1.956	0.104	0.011
(d) I <sub>MLH</sub>						
	1	Intercept	1	0	0.301	0.0
	2	RodentPhase	4	1.43	0.148	0.149

#### Temporal changes in genetic structure

At the metapopulation level, genetic differentiation ( $F_{ST}$ ) decreased by 49% over the study period, from 0.235 (± 0.036) in 2008/2009 to 0.120 (± 0.012) in 2014/2015 (t = -2.425, p < 0.05; Fig. 5a). Average pairwise  $F_{ST}$  between the core populations showed a gradual but non-significant decrease over time from 0.073 (± 0.019) in 2008/2009 to 0.050 (± 0.014) in 2014/2015 (t = -0.959, p = 0.392; Fig. 5b).  $F_{ST}$  between Snøhetta and Børgefjell/Borgafjäll remained stable throughout the study period. For pairwise comparisons between the core and stepping stone populations, the reduction in differentiation was much more dramatic, with  $F_{ST}$  decreasing by 68% from 0.201 (± 0.046) in 2008/2009 to 0.065 (± 0.008) in 2014/2015 (t = -4.431, p < 0.001; Fig. 5c). For pairwise comparisons between stepping stone populations, a general pattern of decreased differentiation was observed (Fig. 5d). However, interpretation of the trends was difficult due to small population size.

**Table 3.** Parameter estimates and levels of significance are from univariate generalized linear models testing the effects of conservation efforts (DensFed, RedCulled, ReleasedFoxes), and rodent abundance (RodentPhase) on inter-annual change in four measures of genetic diversity in arctic foxes sampled in eight mid-Scandinavian subpopulations between 2008 and 2015. The measures of genetic diversity are (a) average allelic diversity ( $n_A$ ), (b) average expected heterozygosity ( $H_E$ ), (c) average observed heterozygosity ( $H_O$ ), and (d) average individual multilocus heterozygosity ( $I_{MLH}$ ). The top-ranked models based on AICc are shown (see Table 2). For the Likelihood Ratio Tests, the chi-square statistic gives the difference in -2 log-likelihoods between the model presented and a reduced model, including only the intercept.

			Parameter estimates				Likelihood Ratio Tests			
	Rank	Models	Parameter	Estimate ± SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	Chi-Square	df	Sig.	
(a) n <sub>A</sub>	2	RedShot	Red Shot	$0.003 \pm 0.003$	0.834	0.410	0.728	1	0.394	
	3	ReleasedFoxes	Released Foxes	0.020 ± 0.025	0.794	0.433	0.659	1	0.417	
(b) H <sub>E</sub>	2	RedShot	Red Shot	$0.000 \pm 0.000$	0.733	0.468	0.564	1	0.453	
(c) H <sub>0</sub>	2	RodentPhase	Rodent Phase 1	-0.054 ± 0.074	-1.846	0.074	6.639	3	0.084	
			Rodent Phase 2	0.067 ± 0.038	1.773	0.085				
			Rodent Phase 3	-0.018 ± 0.026	-0.680	0.501				
			Rodent Phase 4	-0.009 ± 0.031	-0.276	0.784				
	3	RedShot	Red Shot	-0.000 ± 0.000	-0.623	0.537	0.407	1	0.523	
(d) I <sub>MLH</sub>	2	RodentPhase	Rodent Phase 1	-0.053 ± 0.030	-1.758	0.088	6.108	3	0.107	
			Rodent Phase 2	0.066 ± 0.039	1.699	0.098				
			Rodent Phase 3	-0.018 ± 0.026	-0.674	0.505				
			Rodent Phase 4	-0.011 ± 0.032	-0.359	0.722				



**Figure 5**. Annual changes in genetic differentiation ( $F_{ST}$ ) between arctic fox subpopulations in mid-Scandinavia between 2008 and 2015 measured as (a) global metapopulation differentiation, (b) pairwise differentiation between core subpopulations, (c) pairwise differentiation between core and stepping stone subpopulations (Knutshø, Forollhogna, Kjølifjellet, Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet, and Hestkjølen), and (d) pairwise differentiation between stepping stone subpopulations.

After employing the Evanno method (Evanno et al. 2005), results of the STRUCTURE analyses suggested that the most appropriate number of genetic clusters was K = 2for all years. The majority of samples from Børgefjell/Borgafjäll and Snøhetta assigned consistently to one cluster while samples from Sylane/Helags assigned predominantly to the other (Fig. 6). The results of the principal component analysis (PCA) complemented the STRUCTURE results, confirming the aforementioned clustering pattern, and revealing a clear genetic distinction between the Børgefjell/Borgafjäll-Snøhetta cluster and the Sylane/Helags cluster in 2008 and up until 2010 (Fig. 7). For the stepping stone subpopulations, assignment and association patterns varied over time providing insight into the origin of founders
and migrants to these populations. Samples from Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet, Hestkjølen, and Knutshø assigned mainly to the Børgefjell/Borgafjäll-Snøhetta cluster (Fig. 6), and the PCA confirmed the close genetic associations between these populations (Fig. 7). Samples from Kjølifjellet and Forollhogna, on the other hand, showed greater assignment and association to the Sylane/Helags cluster (Fig. 6; Fig. 7). In contrast to the homogenous assignment patterns observed at Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet and Hestkjølen, the stepping stone subpopulations between Snøhetta and Sylane/Helags (Knutshø, Forollhogna, and Kjølifjellet) showed relatively high temporal variation in assignment, particularly in the initial years after recolonization (Fig. 6). By 2014/2015 however, these subpopulations assigned more consistently to one of the two main clusters. The PCA revealed a substantial decrease in metapopulation differentiation over the course of the study, illustrated by the gradual increase in association between the subpopulation clusters (Fig. 7). A similar pattern was confirmed by the STRUCTURE analyses which shows a gradual increase in assignment heterogeneity over time, particularly in the core subpopulations (Fig. 6).



**Figure 6.** Maps showing population level assignment of eight mid-Scandinavian arctic fox populations to K = 2 genetic clusters, as inferred by STRUCTURE analyses each year from 2008 to 2015. The first cluster is indicated in yellow and the second cluster is indicated in violet. Cases where populations show partial assignment to both clusters indicate immigration and admixture. Assignment pies are scaled based on population size. The smallest pies represent  $n \le 15$ , while the largest pies represent  $n \ge 75$ .



**Figure 7.** Principal component analysis (PCA) showing the genetic clustering of eight arctic fox subpopulations in mid-Scandinavia each year from 2008 to 2015. The eight subpopulations include Børgefjell/Borgafjäll (Børg), Snøhetta (Snø), Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet (Blå), Knutshø (Knut), Hestkjølen (Hest), Sylane/Helags (Syl), Kjølifjellet (Kjøli), and Forollhogna (Foroll). The x-axis represents the first principal component (PC2). Across years, PC1 explained an average of 11.44% of the variance (min = 9.05, max = 14.55), while PC2 explained an average of 8.31% of the variance (min = 7.28, max = 10.86).

#### Temporal changes in immigration

Dispersal between the Sylane/Helags area (including Kiølifiellet and Forollhogna), Børgefjell/Borgafjäll area (including Hestkjølen and Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet), and Snøhetta area (including Knutshø) as inferred by assignment tests in ONCOR, showed an overall increase throughout the study period (Fig. 8). In 2009 and 2010 no immigrant recruits were detected, and in both years, only a single individual (sampled at Børgefjell) showed mixed assignment. Starting in 2011, a marked increase in immigration to Sylane/Helags was observed. In 2011, seven recruits at Sylane/Helags assigned genetically to the Børgefjell/Borgafjäll-Snøhetta cluster, and in 2012 eight recruits at Sylane/Helags assigned genetically to the Børgefjell/Borgafjäll–Snøhetta cluster, comprising 20% and 31% of the new recruits for each respective year. The first immigrants to Børgefjell/Borgafjäll were detected in 2013, where three sampled recruits assigned to the Sylane/Helags cluster, and the first migrant to Snøhetta was detected in 2014. In 2015, immigrant recruits were detected in all three areas, with particularly high immigration to Sylane/Helags where 14 % of the new recruits assigned to the Børgefjell/Borgafjäll-Snøhetta cluster. In parallel with the increase in detected dispersers, the proportion of individuals not clearly assigning to any one cluster also increases over the study period, likely reflecting offspring of reproducing immigrants and native foxes.



**Figure 8**. Origin of annual recruits (local or immigrant, see text for details) in the Børgefjell/Borgafjäll area (Børg; including Børgefjell/Borgafjäll, Hestkjølen and Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet), Snøhetta area (Snø; including Snøhetta and Knutshø), and Sylane/Helags area (Syl; including Sylane/Helags, Kjølifjellet and Forollhogna).

## Discussion

Over the past decade, the arctic fox population in mid-Scandinavia has more than doubled in size, dispersal between subpopulations has increased, and a number of historical subpopulations have been recolonized. In parallel with these demographic changes, my results show that genetic diversity within subpopulations has increased, while genetic structuring and differentiation between subpopulations have decreased. The implementation of conservation efforts aimed at supporting the endangered arctic fox population has likely influenced these genetic changes both directly and indirectly, by reducing environmental resistance, facilitating increased reproduction, and promoting density-dependent dispersal.

In general, genetic diversity increased in all subpopulations during the course of the study. Notably, my estimates of genetic diversity from 2008/2009 show similar levels of average expected and observed heterozygosity at Børgefjell/Borgafjäll and Sylane/Helags, compared with diversity levels reported by Dalén et al. (2006) for the same populations and loci up to a decade before. This suggests that the observed increase in genetic diversity did not occur immediately following the initial implementation of conservation actions, including red fox culling and supplementary feeding between 1998 and 2008 (Appendix, Table A2). Rather, genetic changes seem to have occurred as a delayed response to these actions and/or as a result of the release of individuals from the captive breeding program, and the additional implementation of red fox culling and supplementary feeding in the stepping stone areas between 2007 and 2015.

While genetic diversity showed a general increase in all subpopulations, the observed changes were most pronounced at Sylane/Helags, where average allelic diversity increased by 50% between 2008/2009 and 2014/2015 (Fig. 3a). Multiple studies indicate that outcrossing by just a few individuals into a small and inbred population may replenish genetic variation, thereby preventing inbreeding depression (Spielman and Frankham 1992; Ebert et al. 2002) and increasing fitness (Westemeier et al. 1998; Madsen et al. 1999; Hogg et al. 2006; Johnson et al. 2010; Heber et al. 2013; Frankham 2016) in a process known as "genetic rescue" (Ingvarsson 2001; Tallmon et al. 2004; Whiteley et al. 2015). This was exemplified

in the severely bottlenecked grey wolf (*Canis lupus*) population in Scandinavia in the early 1990s, where the arrival of a single immigrant resulted in increased heterozygosity, the rapid spread of new alleles, exponential population growth, and significant outbreeding (Vila et al. 2003).

Norén et al. (2016) showed that the arctic fox population at Helags originated from only five founders, and reported significant inbreeding depression in both reproduction and survival at Helags between 2000 and 2009. The increase in genetic diversity at Sylane/Helags from 2011 onwards thus suggests that the arrival and successful reproduction of one or more immigrants in 2010 may have prompted a genetic "rescue" effect. While the ONCOR analyses did not directly identify any migrants to Sylane/Helags in 2010 (Fig. 8), Hasselgren (2017) report the arrival and successful reproduction of two male arctic foxes at Helags in 2009/2010. It appears that these two males and their offspring had an enormous genetic impact in this population, contributing to the 50% increase in average allelic diversity.

Despite the significant increase in average allelic diversity during the study period, no significant change was detected in average heterozygosity (Table 1). One explanation for this discrepancy could be that the temporal scale of our study was not long enough to capture changes in average expected and observed heterozygosity. In the case of the Florida panther, the release of eight captive-bred individuals into a highly inbred population resulted in a substantial increase in heterozygosity over a 10-year period. However, it took more than four years before a detectable response in heterozygosity was observed (Johnson et al. 2010). It is also worth pointing out that despite small population sizes, at which high rates of genetic drift and inbreeding are expected (Wright 1931; Hanski 1998), no decrease in either average observed or expected heterozygosity was detected. This result suggests that although there was no significant increase in heterozygosity, the management actions (and dispersal) did at least maintain genetic variation in the subpopulations.

Throughout the course of the study, Snøhetta showed consistently higher levels of average expected and observed heterozygosity compared to both Sylane and Børgefjell/Borgafjäll (Fig. 4a, Fig. 5a). The high levels of variation at Snøhetta may be explained by the diverse background of the captive-bred individuals that were released at Snøhetta between 2007 and 2010 (Appendix, Table A1), amplified by cross-breeding between the diverse genetic lineages present in the captive breeding program. Genetic analysis of two reintroduced populations of rocky mountain wolves produced similar results, with founder individuals (originating from multiple source populations) showing higher expected heterozygosity compared to either of their source populations (Forbes and Boyd 1997).

Despite the growing popularity of reintroduction and supplementation programs, however, very few other studies have demonstrated comparable results in terms of both population growth, and maintenance of genetic diversity post reintroduction (Griffith et al. 1989; Wolf et al. 1996; Fischer and Lindenmayer 2000). On the contrary, many studies examining isolated reintroduced populations have reported significant reductions in genetic variability after reintroduction (Broders et al. 1999; Williams et al. 2000; Hedrick et al. 2001). One particularly common cause of genetic variability loss in reintroduced populations is insufficient founding group size (Nei et al. 1975; Berry 1986; Maudet et al. 2002). Additionally, the use of captive breeding in reintroduction programs is associated with substantial risk, as the captive environment may erode the genetic basis for important morphological, physiological, and behavioral traits via artificial selection (Miller et al. 1999; Christie et al. 2012). If this occurs, individuals may exhibit reduced fitness and be left unsuited for life in the wild (McPhee 2004; Araki et al. 2007).

The captive breeding program took into account both disease risk and genetic background when capturing foxes from the wild remnant populations to form the breeding pool (Landa et al. 2017). To minimize adaptation to captivity, appropriate replacement protocols were established so that no single founder line would exceed three generations in captivity (Landa et al. 2017). Additionally, a substantial number of individuals were released at Snøhetta (n = 67) in four separate release events to avoid loss of genetic variation due to founder effects (Landa et al. 2017). Curiously, while gene flow has been suggested to play an important role in maintaining genetic variability in reintroduced populations (Hicks et al. 2007), my results did not detect any immigrants to Snøhetta before 2014 (Fig. 8). On the contrary, many dispersers from Snøhetta emigrated to Sylane/Helags and adjacent mountain fragments throughout the study. This suggests that the reintroduction at Snøhetta not only led

to the re-establishment of a genetically viable population, but additionally that the population seems to have contributed to the observed increase in dispersal, acting as a "source" population (Pulliam 1988).

In parallel with the changes in genetic diversity, changes in the genetic structure of the mid-Scandinavian arctic fox population were also detected. My results indicate a considerable decrease in genetic differentiation between subpopulations over the course of the study, as is expected as a result of increased connectivity and interpopulation dispersal (Slatkin 1987; Wade and McCauley 1988; Hale et al. 2001). The decrease was most pronounced at the metapopulation level, where genetic differentiation decreased by 49%, and for pairwise estimates between core and stepping stone populations which showed a 68% reduction in differentiation (Fig. 5a, c). The high level of differentiation observed during the first half of the study period is likely the result of founder effects during recolonization events (Mayr 1954; Wright 1984; Wade and McCauley 1988), which became less pronounced over time as the size of the recolonized populations grew, and their genetic composition became more similar to that of their source populations.

In the last year of the study, 2015, the level of differentiation between subpopulations at the metapopulation level was still fairly high (0.12), reflecting the stochastic genetic composition in the recolonized populations (Mayr 1954; Wright 1984; Wade and McCauley 1988). Average pairwise differentiation between core populations at the end of the study period was much lower (0.05). This amount of differentiation is moderate for natural populations of animals (Nei 1987; Hartl et al. 2007), and theoretically indicates a sufficient level of gene flow to avoid the harmful effects of local inbreeding (Lowe and Allendorf 2010). The lower average pairwise differentiation between the core populations was clearly accentuated by the extremely low pairwise differentiation between Børgefjell/Borgafjäll and Snøhetta throughout the study (Fig. 5b), which was expected given that many of the Snøhetta founders had a genetic background from Børgefjell/Borgafjäll (Appendix, Table A1) (Williams et al. 2000; Latch and Rhodes 2005).

Despite a substantial reduction in genetic differentiation, the mid-Scandinavian arctic fox population grouped consistently into two genetic clusters throughout the

course of the study. Across years, individuals from Børgefjell/Borgafjäll and the reestablished Snøhetta population assigned to the first cluster, while individuals from Sylane/Helags assigned to the other. This overall clustering pattern reflects the historical and more recent population bottleneck events described by Dalén et al. (2006) and Nyström et al. (2006) and the fact that the population at Sylane/Helags was founded by only five individuals (Norén et al. 2016). At the population level, assignment to the two clusters varied between years, showing a general increase in assignment heterogeneity over time. This is in accordance with the observed increase in dispersal and decrease in population differentiation over the course of the study (Fig. 8; Fig. 5).

Many of the recolonized stepping stone populations showed high inter-annual variation in assignment, highlighting the profound influence of immigrants on the genetic composition of these small subpopulations. For Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet and Hestkjølen, patterns of assignment clearly reflected their geographic proximity to Børgefjell/Borgafjäll. The patterns of assignment for the stepping stone populations between Snøhetta and Sylane/Helags, while varying considerably more throughout the study period, also seemed to develop towards an assignment equilibrium reflecting their geographical proximity to the core populations surrounding them. Given the high intrinsic dispersal capacity of the arctic fox (Eberhardt and Hansson 1978; Garrott and Eberhardt 1987; Strand et al. 2000), this finding suggests that realized patterns of dispersal (and resultant genetic structure) may not only be limited by geographical distance, but also by behavioural and/or ecological factors (Rueness, Jorde, et al. 2003; Pilot et al. 2006). For instance, territorial behaviour and female natal philopatry have been confirmed in the arctic fox (Eberhardt et al. 1982; Hersteinsson and Macdonald 1992; Kullberg and Angerbjörn 1992; Strand et al. 2000), and both of these behaviours have been suggested to promote genetic structure (Sugg et al. 1996; Piertney et al. 1998).

Like the changes in genetic diversity, the recolonization of stepping stone regions seemed to correspond with the first release of captive-bred foxes from the captive breeding program, and the implementation of conservation efforts in the stepping stone areas (Fig. 2; Appendix, Table A2). These changes, along with the marked increase in dispersal, suggest a substantial shift in the dynamics of the mid-

Scandinavian arctic fox population around 2010/2011. A number of empirical studies have revealed similar patterns, reporting both recolonization and range expansion following demographic recovery (Lubina and Levin 1988; Bales et al. 2005). According to theory, the optimal emigration strategy is often to remain in the natal patch until a threshold density, close to the local carrying capacity (Hovestadt et al. 2010; Clobert 2012). Above this threshold, a gradual increase in emigration rate is expected. Assuming that the arctic fox exhibits density-dependent dispersal, the observed increase in dispersal could be the result of demographic growth towards threshold density, leading to the re-establishment of density-dependent dispersal and healthy metapopulation dynamics. While density-dependant dispersal was not directly tested, Eide et al. (2015) made a similar connection, suggesting that the observed demographic growth seemed to have a selfreenforcing effect leading to restoration of the natural metapopulation dynamics of the system. Furthermore, emigration rate should increase as mortality costs associated with dispersal decrease (Hovestadt et al. 2010). If the implementation of supplementary feeding and red fox culling in stepping stone areas reduced the risk of dispersal mortality, these strategies may also have influenced the marked shift in dispersal and metapopulation dynamics.

These results emphasize the role of dispersal as the underlying mechanism influencing changes in genetic diversity and differentiation, and suggest a connection between the observed genetic changes and the implementation of conservation actions. Despite this apparent connection, however, the generalized linear model (GLM) approach assessing the relationship between conservation efforts, rodent abundance, and genetic diversity, showed mixed results and explained minimal variance in the respective diversity parameters. One explanation for this could be that relatively low samples sizes and oversimplification in the modeling process compromised my ability to detect the biologically relevant relationships (Burnham and Anderson 1992; Steidl et al. 1997; Bourne et al. 2007). In constructing the GLMs, only the main effects of the explanatory variables (supplementary feeding, red fox culling, captive release, and rodent phase) were considered, however some of these factors may interact, and do show a degree of correlation (Appendix, Table A6). Furthermore, the models assumed a direct inter-

annual relationship between conservation, rodent phase, and genetic diversity. However, as discussed previously, different diversity parameters may differ in their response time. In order to truly determine the influence of conservation and rodent abundance on genetic diversity, models may need to take into account these complex interactions and sources of variation.

### Implications for conservation management

The current level of genetic diversity in the mid-Scandinavian arctic fox population is quite high, especially considering the recent bottleneck suggested by Nyström et al. (2006). The substantial increase in genetic diversity within populations, decrease in differentiation among populations, and the general increase in dispersal throughout the study period, suggest that a degree of connectivity has been reestablished. As connectivity is essential for both local and global population persistence in metapopulations (Hanski and Gilpin 1997; Hanski 1998; Hanski and Gaggiotti 2004), these changes suggest an increase in the long-term viability of the Scandinavian arctic fox population.

As clearly demonstrated, dispersal is the central process influencing genetic structure and subpopulation level genetic diversity. Indeed, for species like the Scandinavian arctic fox, living in fragmented habitats and relying on fluctuating prey resources, dispersal and settlement of immigrants may be the key to population persistence (Loison et al. 2001). In order to better understand the role of dispersal and the influence of conservation measures on dispersal and diversity, future studies should address both the factors that trigger dispersal and recolonization, as well as the factors that hinder movement, increase environmental resistance, and reduce connectivity.

The notable shift in metapopulation dynamics that occurred during the course of the last decade has had a profound effect on genetic diversity and differentiation in the arctic fox in mid-Scandinavia. For planning and evaluating conservation management, the possible existence of a threshold population size for healthy metapopulation dynamics should be explored in future studies. Furthermore, a better understanding of density-dependent dynamics and threshold population sizes would also be beneficial for future research and conservation of other endangered species exhibiting similar population dynamics and biology.

My results confirm the genetic success of reintroductions from the Norwegian Arctic Fox Captive Breeding Program, highlighting the importance of founder population size and careful genetic planning for maintaining genetic diversity post reintroduction. It appears that the release of foxes over a four-year period stimulated the restoration of metapopulation dynamics, and even though there has been no release of foxes in the study area since 2011, dispersal rates and metapopulation size is still increasing. The success of the captive breeding program may be useful as a model on which to base future conservation management and reintroduction programs.

In conclusion, the evidence of increased dispersal, increased genetic diversity, and decreased differentiation in the mid-Scandinavian arctic fox population during the last decade indicate restoration of metapopulation connectivity and an increase in long-term population viability. While a direct relationship between conservation actions and genetic diversity was not revealed, the implementation of conservation efforts has undoubtedly influenced the observed genetic changes. Finally, considering the four-year generation time of the arctic fox and the relatively short temporal scale of this study, the genetic and demographic responses documented in this study occurred surprisingly rapidly. Indeed, in light of these rapid changes, and given sufficiently stable rodent dynamics, it is not inconceivable that the arctic fox population in Scandinavia may be able to persist without intervention in the not so distant future.

38

## References

- Aars, J., & Ims, R. A. (1999). The effect of habitat corridors on rates of transfer and interbreeding between vole demes. *Ecology*, *80*(5), 1648-1655.
- Allendorf, F. W., & Luikart, G. (2009). *Conservation and the genetics of populations*. Hoboken, NJ, United States: John Wiley & Sons.
- Altizer, S., Harvell, D., & Friedle, E. (2003). Rapid evolutionary dynamics and disease threats to biodiversity. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 18*(11), 589-596.
- Angerbjörn, A., Arvidson, B., Norén, E., & Strömgren, L. (1991). The effect of winter food on reproduction in the arctic fox, Alopex lagopus: a field experiment. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, *60*(2), 705-714.
- Angerbjörn, A., Eide, N. E., Dalén, L., Elmhagen, B., Hellström, P., Ims, R. A., Killengreen, S., Landa, A., Meijer, T., & Mela, M. (2013). Carnivore conservation in practice: replicated management actions on a large spatial scale. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50(1), 59-67.
- Angerbjörn, A., Hersteinsson, P., & Tannerfeldt, M. (2004). Consequences of resource predictability in the arctic fox — two life history strategies. In D. Macdonald & C. Sillero-Zubiri (Eds.), *The Biology and Conservation of Wild Canids*. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Angerbjörn, A., & Tannerfeldt, M. (2014). *Vulpes lagopus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014*: e.T899A57549321. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2014-2.RLTS.T899A57549321.en. [Accessed 17 January 2016].
- Angerbjörn, A., Tannerfeldt, M., Bjärvall, A., Ericson, M., From, J., & Norén, E. (1995). Dynamics of the arctic fox population in Sweden. *Annales Zoologici Fennici, 32*(1), 55-68.
- Angerbjörn, A., Tannerfeldt, M., Henttonen, H., Elmhagen, B., & Dalén, L. (2003). SEFALO: Bevarande av fjällräv Alopex lagopus i Sverige och Finland - slutrapport. Stockholm, Sweden. Available at: http://www.zoologi.su.se/research/alopex/publications/SEFALO\_report\_1998-2002.pdf [Accessed 07.04.2017] (In Swedish).
- Angerbjörn, A., Tannerfeldt, M., & Lundberg, H. (2001). Geographical and temporal patterns of lemming population dynamics in Fennoscandia. *Ecography*, 24(3), 298-308.
- Araki, H., Cooper, B., & Blouin, M. S. (2007). Genetic effects of captive breeding cause a rapid, cumulative fitness decline in the wild. *Science, 318*(5847), 100-103.
- Austerlitz, F., Jung-Muller, B., Godelle, B., & Gouyon, P.-H. (1997). Evolution of coalescence times, genetic diversity and structure during colonization. *Theoretical Population Biology*, 51(2), 148-164.
- Bales, S. L., Hellgren, E. C., Leslie Jr, D. M., & Hemphill Jr, J. (2005). Dynamics of a recolonizing population of black bears in the Ouachita Mountains of Oklahoma. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, 33(4), 1342-1351.

- Barrett, R. D., & Schluter, D. (2008). Adaptation from standing genetic variation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 23*(1), 38-44.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2014). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1406.5823*.
- Bellemain, E., Nawaz, M. A., Valentini, A., Swenson, J. E., & Taberlet, P. (2007). Genetic tracking of the brown bear in northern Pakistan and implications for conservation. *Biological Conservation*, 134(4), 537-547.
- Berg, W. E. (1982). Reintroduction of fisher, pine marten and river otter. In G. C. Sanderson (Ed.), *Midwest Furbearer Management: Proceedings of the Symposium of the 43rd Midwest Fish and Wildlife Conference* (pp. 159-173). Wichita, KS, USA: North Central Section of the Wildlife Society.
- Berry, R. (1986). Genetics of insular populations of mammals, with particular reference to differentiation and founder effects in British small mammals. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society, 28*(1-2), 205-230.
- Bertram, B. C., & Moltu, D. P. (1986). Reintroducing red squirrels into Regent's Park. *Mammal Review*, 16(2), 81-88.
- Bohonak, A. J. (1999). Dispersal, gene flow, and population structure. *The Quarterly Review* of *Biology*, 74(1), 21-45.
- Bourne, C. M., Regular, P. M., Sun, B., Thompson, S. P., Trant, A. J., & Wheeler, J. A. (2007). Generalized linear model analysis in Ecology. St. John's, NL, Canada: Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador.
- Braestrup, F. W. (1941). A study on the arctic fox in Greenland: immigrations, fluctuations in numbers, based mainly on trading statistics. Copenhagen, Denmark: C.A. Reitzels.
- Broders, H., Mahoney, S., Montevecchi, W., & Davidson, W. (1999). Population genetic structure and the effect of founder events on the genetic variability of moose, Alces alces, in Canada. *Molecular Ecology*, 8(8), 1309-1315.
- Brook, B. W., Sodhi, N. S., & Bradshaw, C. J. (2008). Synergies among extinction drivers under global change. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23(8), 453-460.
- Burel, F., Baudry, J., Butet, A., Clergeau, P., Delettre, Y., Le Coeur, D., Dubs, F., Morvan, N., Paillat, G., & Petit, S. (1998). Comparative biodiversity along a gradient of agricultural landscapes. *Acta Oecologica*, 19(1), 47-60.
- Burnham, K., & Anderson, D. (2002). Information and likelihood theory: a basis for model selection and inference *Model selection and multimodel inference - a practical information-theoretic approach* (Vol. 2, pp. 49-97). New York, NY, USA: Springer.
- Burnham, K. P., & Anderson, D. R. (1992). Data-based selection of an appropriate biological model: the key to modern data analysis. In D. R. McCullough & R. H. Barrett (Eds.), *Wildlife 2001: populations* (pp. 16-30). Essex, England: Elsevier Science Publishers Ltd.
- Calcagno, V., & de Mazancourt, C. (2010). Glmulti: an R package for easy automated model selection with (generalized) linear models. *Journal of Statistical Software, 34*(12), 1-29. doi:10.18637/jss.v034.i12

- Carroll, C., Fredrickson, R. J., & Lacy, R. C. (2014). Developing metapopulation connectivity criteria from genetic and habitat data to recover the endangered Mexican wolf. *Conservation Biology*, *28*(1), 76-86.
- Caughley, G. (1994). Directions in conservation biology. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 63(2), 215-244.
- Che-Castaldo, J. P., & Neel, M. C. (2016). Species-level persistence probabilities for recovery and conservation status assessment. *Conservation Biology*, *30*(6), 1297-1306.
- Christie, M. R., Marine, M. L., French, R. A., & Blouin, M. S. (2012). Genetic adaptation to captivity can occur in a single generation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(1), 238-242.
- Clobert, J. (2012). *Dispersal ecology and evolution*. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Collett, R. (1912). Norges pattedyr. Kristiania, Norway: H. Aschehoug & Co.
- Corlett, R. T. (2007). The impact of hunting on the mammalian fauna of tropical Asian forests. *Biotropica*, *39*(3), 292-303.
- Cornulier, T., Yoccoz, N. G., Bretagnolle, V., Brommer, J. E., Butet, A., Ecke, F., Elston, D. A., Framstad, E., Henttonen, H., & Hörnfeldt, B. (2013). Europe-wide dampening of population cycles in keystone herbivores. *Science*, 340(6128), 63-66.
- Dalén, L., Fuglei, E., Hersteinsson, P., Kapel, C. M., Roth, J. D., Samelius, G., Tannerfeldt, M., & Angerbjörn, A. (2005). Population history and genetic structure of a circumpolar species: the arctic fox. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 84(1), 79-89.
- Dalén, L., Götherström, A., & Angerbjörn, A. (2004). Identifying species from pieces of faeces. *Conservation Genetics*, *5*(1), 109-111.
- Dalén, L., Kvaløy, K., Linnell, J., Elmhagen, B., Strand, O., Tannerfeldt, M., Henttonen, H., Fuglei, E., Landa, A., & Angerbjörn, A. (2006). Population structure in a critically endangered arctic fox population: does genetics matter? *Molecular Ecology*, 15(10), 2809-2819.
- Diffendorfer, J. E., Gaines, M. S., & Holt, R. D. (1995). Habitat fragmentation and movements of three small mammals (Sigmodon, Microtus, and Peromyscus). *Ecology*, *76*(3), 827-839.
- Direktoratet for Naturforvaltning. (2003). *Handlingsplan for fjellrev. Rapport 2003-2*. Trondheim, Norway. Available at: http://www.miljodirektoratet.no/old/dirnat/attachment/37/Rapport%202003-2.pdf [Accessed 08.04.2017] (In Norwegian).
- Ducatez, S., & Shine, R. (2017). Drivers of extinction risk in terrestrial vertebrates. *Conservation Letters*, *10*(2), 186-194.
- Dunn, O. J. (1961). Multiple comparisons among means. *Journal of the American Statistical Association, 56*(293), 52-64.
- Eberhardt, L., & Hansson, W. (1978). Long distance movements of arctic foxes tagged in northern Alaska. *Canadian Field Naturalist, 92*, 386–389.

- Eberhardt, L. E., Hanson, W. C., Bengtson, J. L., Garrott, R. A., & Hanson, E. E. (1982). Arctic fox home range characteristics in an oil-development area. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, *46*(1), 183-190.
- Ebert, D., Haag, C., Kirkpatrick, M., Riek, M., Hottinger, J. W., & Pajunen, V. I. (2002). A selective advantage to immigrant genes in a Daphnia metapopulation. *Science*, 295(5554), 485-488.
- Eide, N. E., Ulvund, K., Kleven, O., Rød-Eriksen, L., Landa, A., & Flagstad, Ø. (2015). Arctic fox in Norway 2015. Results from the national monitoring programme for arctic fox. (1219). Trondheim, Norway. Available at: http://hdl.handle.net/11250/2380192
  [Accessed 07.04.2017] (In Norwegian).
- Elmhagen, B. (2008). *Åtgärdsprogram för fjällräv 2008–2012.* (5927). Stockholm, Sweden. Available at: http://www.naturvardsverket.se/Documents/publikationer/978-91-620-5927-9.pdf [Accessed 07.04.2017] (In Swedish).
- Elmhagen, B., Angerbjörn, A., Henttonen, H., Eide, N., & Landa, A. (2004). SEFALO+:Saving the endangered Fennoscandian Alopex lagopus. First progress report with financial summary. Stockholm, Sweden. Available at: http://www.zoologi.su.se/research/alopex/publications/SEFALO\_report\_2004.pdf [Accessed 07.04.2017].
- Elmhagen, B., Hellström, P., Angerbjörn, A., & Kindberg, J. (2011). Changes in vole and lemming fluctuations in northern Sweden 1960–2008 revealed by fox dynamics. *Annales Zoologici Fennici*, 48(3), 167-179.
- Elmhagen, B., Tannerfeldt, M., & Angerbjörn, A. (2002). Food-niche overlap between arctic and red foxes. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *80*(7), 1274-1285.
- Elmhagen, B., Tannerfeldt, M., Verucci, P., & AngerbjoÈrn, A. (2000). The arctic fox (Alopex lagopus): an opportunistic specialist. *Journal of Zoology*, *251*(2), 139-149.
- England, P. R., Osler, G. H., Woodworth, L. M., Montgomery, M. E., Briscoe, D. A., & Frankham, R. (2003). Effects of intense versus diffuse population bottlenecks on microsatellite genetic diversity and evolutionary potential. *Conservation Genetics*, 4(5), 595-604.
- Ericson, M. (2014). *Felles Fjellrev 2010 2013: Slutrapport.* Stockholm, Sweden. Available at: http://www.fellesfjellrev.se/wp-content/uploads/FellesFjellrev\_Slutrapport\_131231.pdf [Accessed 07.04.2017].
- Evanno, G., Regnaut, S., & Goudet, J. (2005). Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: a simulation study. *Molecular Ecology*, *14*(8), 2611-2620.
- Fagan, W. F., & Holmes, E. (2006). Quantifying the extinction vortex. *Ecology Letters*, *9*(1), 51-60.
- Fernández, J., Toro, M., & Caballero, A. (2004). Managing individuals' contributions to maximize the allelic diversity maintained in small, conserved populations. *Conservation Biology*, 18(5), 1358-1367.
- Fischer, J., & Lindenmayer, D. B. (2000). An assessment of the published results of animal relocations. *Biological Conservation*, *96*(1), 1-11.

- Forbes, S. H., & Boyd, D. K. (1997). Genetic structure and migration in native and reintroduced Rocky Mountain wolf populations. *Conservation Biology*, 11(5), 1226-1234.
- Frankham, R. (2005). Genetics and extinction. *Biological Conservation*, 126(2), 131-140.
- Frankham, R. (2016). Genetic rescue benefits persist to at least the F3 generation, based on a meta-analysis. *Biological Conservation*, *195*, 33-36.
- Frankham, R., Briscoe, D. A., & Ballou, J. D. (2002). *Introduction to conservation genetics*: Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.
- Fredholm, M., & Winterø, A. (1995). Variation of short tandem repeats within and between species belonging to the Canidae family. *Mammalian Genome*, *6*(1), 11-18.
- Fuglei, E., & Ims, R. A. (2008). Global warming and effects on the arctic fox. *Science Progress*, *91*(2), 175-191.
- Gagneux, P., Boesch, C., & Woodruff, D. (1997). Microsatellite scoring errors associated with noninvasive genotyping based on nuclear DNA amplified from shed hair. *Molecular Ecology*, 6(9), 861-868.
- Garrott, R., & Eberhardt, L. (1987). Arctic fox. In M. Novak, J. Baker, M. Obbard, & B. Malloch (Eds.), *Wild Furbearer Management and Conservation in North America* (pp. 395-406). Ontario, Canada: Ontario Trappers Association.
- Garrott, R. A., & Eberhardt, L. E. (1982). Mortality of arctic fox pups in northern Alaska. *Journal of Mammalogy*, *63*(1), 173-174.
- Geffen, E., Anderson, M. J., & Wayne, R. K. (2004). Climate and habitat barriers to dispersal in the highly mobile grey wolf. *Molecular Ecology*, *13*(8), 2481-2490.
- Gilpin, M., & Soulé, M. (1986). Minimum viable populations: processes of species extinction. In M. E. Soulé (Ed.), *Conservation biology: the science of scarcity and diversity.* pp. 19-34). Sunderland, MA, USA: Sinauer Associates.
- Goossens, B., Chikhi, L., Ancrenaz, M., Lackman-Ancrenaz, I., Andau, P., & Bruford, M. W. (2006). Genetic signature of anthropogenic population collapse in orang-utans. *PLoS Biology*, 4(2), e25.
- Griffith, B., Scott, J. M., Carpenter, J. W., & Reed, C. (1989). Translocation as a species conservation tool: status and strategy. *Science*, *245*(4917), 477-480.
- Groombridge, J. J., Jones, C. G., Bruford, M. W., & Nichols, R. A. (2000). Conservation biology: 'Ghost'alleles of the Mauritius kestrel. *Nature*, *403*(6770), 616-616.
- Habel, J. C., Zachos, F. E., Dapporto, L., Rödder, D., Radespiel, U., Tellier, A., & Schmitt, T. (2015). Population genetics revisited towards a multidisciplinary research field. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, *115*(1), 1-12.
- Hale, M. L., Lurz, P. W., Shirley, M. D., Rushton, S., Fuller, R. M., & Wolff, K. (2001). Impact of landscape management on the genetic structure of red squirrel populations. *Science*, 293(5538), 2246-2248.

Hamel, S., Killengreen, S., Henden, J.-A., Yoccoz, N., & Ims, R. (2013). Disentangling the importance of interspecific competition, food availability, and habitat in species occupancy: recolonization of the endangered Fennoscandian arctic fox. *Biological Conservation*, 160, 114-120.

Hamilton, M. (2011). Population genetics. West Sussex, United Kingdom: Wiley-Blackwell.

- Hanski, I. (1998). Metapopulation dynamics. Nature, 396(6706), 41-49.
- Hanski, I., & Gaggiotti, O. E. (2004). *Ecology, genetics, and evolution of metapopulations*. London, United Kingdom: Academic Press.
- Hanski, I., & Gilpin, M. E. (1997). *Metapopulation biology*. London, United Kingdom: Academic press.
- Hansson, B., Westerdahl, H., Hasselquist, D., Åkesson, M., & Bensch, S. (2004). Does linkage disequilibrium generate heterozygosity-fitness correlations in great reed warblers? *Evolution*, 58(4), 870-879.
- Hartl, D. L., & Clark, A. G. (2007). *Principles of population genetics* (4 ed.). Sunderland, MA, USA: Sinauer Associates
- Hasselgren, M. (2017). *Genetic rescue in an arctic fox population* (In prep).
- Heber, S., Varsani, A., Kuhn, S., Girg, A., Kempenaers, B., & Briskie, J. (2013). The genetic rescue of two bottlenecked South Island robin populations using translocations of inbred donors. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 280(1752).
- Hedrick, P., Gutierrez-Espeleta, G., & Lee, R. (2001). Founder effect in an island population of bighorn sheep. *Molecular Ecology*, *10*(4), 851-857.
- Henden, J.-A., Yoccoz, N. G., Ims, R. A., Bårdsen, B.-J., & Angerbjörn, A. (2009). Phasedependent effect of conservation efforts in cyclically fluctuating populations of arctic fox (Vulpes lagopus). *Biological Conservation*, 142(11), 2586-2592.
- Henden, J. A., Ims, R. A., Yoccoz, N. G., Hellström, P., & Angerbjörn, A. (2010). Strength of asymmetric competition between predators in food webs ruled by fluctuating prey: the case of foxes in tundra. *Oikos*, *119*(1), 27-34.
- Herfindal, I., Linnell, J. D. C., Elmhagen, B., Andersen, R., Eide, N. E., Frafjord, K., Henttonen, H., Kaikusalo, A., Mela, M., Tannerfeldt, M., Dalén, L., Strand, O., Landa, A., & Angerbjörn, A. (2010). Population persistence in a landscape context: the case of endangered arctic fox populations in Fennoscandia. *Ecography*, *33*(5), 932-941.
- Hersteinsson, P., Angerbjörn, A., Frafjord, K., & Kaikusalo, A. (1989). The arctic fox in Fennoscandia and Iceland: management problems. *Biological Conservation*, 49(1), 67-81.
- Hersteinsson, P., & Macdonald, D. W. (1992). Interspecific competition and the geographical distribution of red and arctic foxes Vulpes vulpes and Alopex lagopus. *Oikos*, 64(3), 505-515.
- Hewitt, G. M. (1996). Some genetic consequences of ice ages, and their role in divergence and speciation. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, *58*(3), 247-276.

- Hewitt, G. M. (2000). The genetic legacy of the Quaternary ice ages. *Nature*, *405*(6789), 907-913.
- Hicks, J. F., Rachlow, J. L., Rhodes Jr, O. E., Williams, C. L., & Waits, L. P. (2007). Reintroduction and genetic structure: Rocky Mountain elk in Yellowstone and the western states. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 88(1), 129-138.
- Hogg, J. T., Forbes, S. H., Steele, B. M., & Luikart, G. (2006). Genetic rescue of an insular population of large mammals. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 273(1593), 1491-1499.
- Hovestadt, T., Kubisch, A., & Poethke, H.-J. (2010). Information processing in models for density-dependent emigration: a comparison. *Ecological Modelling*, *221*(3), 405-410.
- Høst, P. (1935). Trekk av dyrelivet på Hardangervidda. *Norsk Jaeger og Fisker-Forenings Tidsskrift, 64*, 201-202 (In Norwegian).
- Ibrahim, K. M., Nichols, R. A., & Hewitt, G. M. (1996). Spatial patterns of genetic variation generated by different forms of dispersal. *Heredity*, *77*, 282-291.
- Ims, R. A., Henden, J.-A., & Killengreen, S. T. (2008). Collapsing population cycles. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 23*(2), 79-86.
- Ingvarsson, P. K. (2001). Restoration of genetic variation lost the genetic rescue hypothesis. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *16*(2), 62-63.
- IUCN. (2012). IUCN guidelines for reintroductions and other conservation translocations. Strasbourg, France. Available at: https://portals.iucn.org/library/efiles/documents/2013-009.pdf [Accessed 17.04.2017].
- Jaenike, J. R. (1973). A steady state model of genetic polymorphism on islands. *The American Naturalist, 107*(958), 793-795.
- Jakobsson, M., & Rosenberg, N. A. (2007). CLUMPP: a cluster matching and permutation program for dealing with label switching and multimodality in analysis of population structure. *Bioinformatics, 23*(14), 1801-1806.
- Jenkins, M. (2003). Prospects for biodiversity. *Science*, *302*(5648), 1175-1177.
- Johnson, R. (1990). Release and translocation strategies for the Puerto Rican crested toad, Peltophryne lemur. *Endanger Species Update*, *8*, 54-57.
- Johnson, W. E., Onorato, D. P., Roelke, M. E., Land, E. D., Cunningham, M., Belden, R. C., McBride, R., Jansen, D., Lotz, M., & Shindle, D. (2010). Genetic restoration of the Florida panther. *Science*, *329*(5999), 1641-1645.
- Jombart, T. (2008). Adegenet: a R package for the multivariate analysis of genetic markers. *Bioinformatics*, *24*(11), 1403-1405.
- Jombart, T., & Ahmed, I. (2011). Adegenet 1.3-1: new tools for the analysis of genome-wide SNP data. *Bioinformatics*, *27*(21), 3070-3071.
- Kaikusalo, A., & Angerbjörn, A. (1995). The arctic fox population in Finnish Lapland during 30 years, 1964—93. *Annales Zoologici Fennici, 32*(1), 69-77.

- Kaikusalo, A., Mela, M. & Henttonen, H. (2000). Will the arctic fox become extinct in Finland? *Suomen Riista*(46), 57-65.
- Kalinowski, S., Manlove, K., & Taper, M. (2007). ONCOR: a computer program for genetic stock identification. Bozeman, MT, USA: Department of Ecology.
- Kausrud, K. L., Mysterud, A., Steen, H., Vik, J. O., Østbye, E., Cazelles, B., Framstad, E., Eikeset, A. M., Mysterud, I., & Solhøy, T. (2008). Linking climate change to lemming cycles. *Nature*, 456(7218), 93-97.
- Keller, L. F., & Waller, D. M. (2002). Inbreeding effects in wild populations. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *17*(5), 230-241.
- Kinnaird, M. F., Sanderson, E. W., O'brien, T. G., Wibisono, H. T., & Woolmer, G. (2003). Deforestation trends in a tropical landscape and implications for endangered large mammals. *Conservation Biology*, 17(1), 245-257.
- Kullberg, C., & Angerbjörn, A. (1992). Social behaviour and cooperative breeding in arctic foxes, Alopex lagopus(L.) in a semi-natural environment. *Ethology*, *90*(4), 321-335.
- Lacy, R. C. (1997). Importance of genetic variation to the viability of mammalian populations. *Journal of Mammalogy*, *78*(2), 320-335.
- Landa, A., Flagstad, Ø., Areskoug, V., Linnell, J. D. C., Strand, O., Roaldsnes Ulvund, K., Thierry, A.-M., Rød-Eriksen, L., & E. Eide, N. (2017). The endangered arctic fox populations in Norway - The failure and success of captive breeding and reintroduction. *Polar Biology* (In press).
- Lande, R. (1998). Anthropogenic, ecological and genetic factors in extinction and conservation. *Population Ecology*, *40*(3), 259-269.
- Larson, S., Jameson, R., Etnier, M., Fleming, M., & Bentzen, P. (2002). Loss of genetic diversity in sea otters (Enhydra lutris) associated with the fur trade of the 18th and 19th centuries. *Molecular Ecology*, *11*(10), 1899-1903.
- Latch, E. K., & Rhodes, O. E. (2005). The effects of gene flow and population isolation on the genetic structure of reintroduced wild turkey populations: are genetic signatures of source populations retained? *Conservation Genetics*, *6*(6), 981-997.
- Laurance, W. F., Vasconcelos, H. L., & Lovejoy, T. E. (2000). Forest loss and fragmentation in the Amazon: implications for wildlife conservation. *Oryx*, *34*(1), 39-45.
- Lenney Williams, C., Serfass, T. L., Cogan, R., & Rhodes, O. E. (2002). Microsatellite variation in the reintroduced Pennsylvania elk herd. *Molecular Ecology*, 11(8), 1299-1310.
- Linnell, J., Strand, O., Loison, A., Solberg, E., & Jordhøy, P. (1999). A future plan for arctic foxes in Norway? A status report and action plan (576). Trondheim, Norway. Available at: http://www.nina.no/archive/nina/PppbasePdf/oppdragsmelding/576.pdf [Accessed 07.04.2017].
- Linnell, J. D., Landa, A., Andersen, R., Strand, O., Eide, N., van Dijk, J., & May, R. (2004). Captive-breeding, population supplementation and reintroduction as tools to conserve endangered arctic fox populations in Norway: Detailed proposal and progress 2001-

2004 (825). Trondheim, Norway. Available at: http://www.nina.no/archive/nina/PppBasePdf/oppdragsmelding/825.pdf [Accessed 07.04.2017].

- Loison, A., Strand, O., & Linnell, J. D. (2001). Effect of temporal variation in reproduction on models of population viability: a case study for remnant arctic fox (Alopex lagopus) populations in Scandinavia. *Biological Conservation*, *97*(3), 347-359.
- Lowe, W. H., & Allendorf, F. W. (2010). What can genetics tell us about population connectivity? *Molecular Ecology*, *19*(15), 3038-3051.
- Lubina, J. A., & Levin, S. A. (1988). The spread of a reinvading species: range expansion in the California sea otter. *The American Naturalist*, *131*(4), 526-543.
- Lönnberg, E. (1927). Fjällrävstammen i Sverige 1926. K. Svenska Vetenskapsakademiens Skrifter i Naturskyddsärenden (7), 1-23.
- Madsen, T., Shine, R., Olsson, M., & Wittzell, H. (1999). Conservation biology: restoration of an inbred adder population. *Nature*, *402*(6757), 34-35.
- Manel, S., & Holderegger, R. (2013). Ten years of landscape genetics. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 28(10), 614-621.
- Manel, S., Schwartz, M. K., Luikart, G., & Taberlet, P. (2003). Landscape genetics: combining landscape ecology and population genetics. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 18*(4), 189-197.
- Maudet, C., Miller, C., Bassano, B., Breitenmoser-Würsten, C., Gauthier, D., Obexer-Ruff, G., Michallet, J., Taberlet, P., & Luikart, G. (2002). Microsatellite DNA and recent statistical methods in wildlife conservation management: applications in Alpine ibex [Capra ibex (ibex)]. *Molecular Ecology*, 11(3), 421-436.
- Mayr, E. (1954). *Change of genetic environment and evolution*. New South Wales, Australia: George Allen & Unwin Limited.
- McPhee, M. E. (2004). Generations in captivity increases behavioral variance: considerations for captive breeding and reintroduction programs. *Biological Conservation*, *115*(1), 71-77.
- McRae, B., Beier, P., Dewald, L., Huynh, L., & Keim, P. (2005). Habitat barriers limit gene flow and illuminate historical events in a wide-ranging carnivore, the American puma. *Molecular Ecology*, *14*(7), 1965-1977.
- Mech, S. G., & Hallett, J. G. (2001). Evaluating the effectiveness of corridors: a genetic approach. *Conservation Biology*, *15*(2), 467-474.
- Meijer, T., Elmhagen, B., Eide, N. E., & Angerbjörn, A. (2013). Life history traits in a cyclic ecosystem: a field experiment on the arctic fox. *Oecologia*, *173*(2), 439-447.
- Meijer, T., Norén, K., Hellström, P., Dalén, L., & Angerbjörn, A. (2008). Estimating population parameters in a threatened arctic fox population using molecular tracking and traditional field methods. *Animal Conservation*, 11(4), 330-338.

- Miller, B., Ralls, K., Reading, R. P., Scott, J. M., & Estes, J. (1999). Biological and technical considerations of carnivore translocation: a review. *Animal Conservation*, 2(1), 59-68.
- Miller, B. F., DeYoung, R. W., Campbell, T. A., Laseter, B. R., Ford, W. M., & Miller, K. V. (2010). Fine-scale genetic and social structuring in a central Appalachian whitetailed deer herd. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 91(3), 681-689.
- Murphy, G. E., & Romanuk, T. N. (2014). A meta-analysis of declines in local species richness from human disturbances. *Ecology and Evolution*, 4(1), 91-103.
- Nei, M. (1987). *Molecular evolutionary genetics*. New York, NY, USA: Columbia University Press.
- Nei, M., Maruyama, T., & Chakraborty, R. (1975). The bottleneck effect and genetic variability in populations. *Evolution*, 29(1), 1-10.
- Norén, K., Dalen, L., Kvaløy, K., & Angerbjörn, A. (2005). Detection of farm fox and hybrid genotypes among wild arctic foxes in Scandinavia. *Conservation Genetics*, 6(6), 885-894.
- Norén, K., Godoy, E., Dalén, L., Meijer, T., & Angerbjörn, A. (2016). Inbreeding depression in a critically endangered carnivore. *Molecular Ecology*, *25*(14), 3309-3318.
- Nyström, V., Angerbjörn, A., & Dalén, L. (2006). Genetic consequences of a demographic bottleneck in the Scandinavian arctic fox. *Oikos, 114*(1), 84-94.
- Ostrander, E., Mapa, F., Yee, M., & Rine, J. (1995). One hundred and one new simple sequence repeat-based markers for the canine genome. *Mammalian Genome*, 6(3), 192-195.
- Ostrander, E. A., Sprague, G. F., & Rine, J. (1993). Identification and characterization of dinucleotide repeat (CA) n markers for genetic mapping in dog. *Genomics*, *16*(1), 207-213.
- Pamperin, N. J., Follmann, E. H., & Petersen, B. (2006). Interspecific killing of an arctic fox by a red fox at Prudhoe Bay, Alaska. *Arctic*, *59*(4), 361-364.
- Park, S. (2001). The Excel microsatellite toolkit, version 3.1. Dublin, Ireland: University College Animal Genomics Laboratory.
- Peakall, R., & Smouse, P. E. (2006). GenAlEx 6: genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 6(1), 288-295.
- Peakall, R., & Smouse, P. E. (2012). GenAlEx 6.5: genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research—an update. *Bioinformatics*, 28(19), 2537-2539.
- Piertney, S. B., MacColl, A. D., Bacon, P. J., & Dallas, J. F. (1998). Local genetic structure in red grouse (Lagopus lagopus scoticus): evidence from microsatellite DNA markers. *Molecular Ecology*, 7(12), 1645-1654.
- Pilot, M., Jedrzejewski, W., Branicki, W., Sidorovich, V. E., Jedrzejewska, B., Stachura, K., & Funk, S. M. (2006). Ecological factors influence population genetic structure of European grey wolves. *Molecular Ecology*, 15(14), 4533-4553.

- Price, M. R. S. (1989). *Animal reintroductions: the Arabian oryx in Oman*. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.
- Pritchard, J. K., Stephens, M., & Donnelly, P. (2000). Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. *Genetics*, 155(2), 945-959.
- Pulliam, H. R. (1988). Sources, sinks, and population regulation. *The American Naturalist*, 132(5), 652-661.
- R Core Team. (2016). *R: a language and environment for statistical computing*. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Ramakrishnan, A. P., Musial, T., & Cruzan, M. B. (2010). Shifting dispersal modes at an expanding species' range margin. *Molecular Ecology*, *19*(6), 1134-1146.
- Raymond, M., & Rousset, F. (1995). GenePop (version 1.2): population genetics software for exact tests and ecumenicism. *Journal of Heredity*, *86*(3), 248-249.
- Rice, W. R. (1989). Analyzing tables of statistical tests. *Evolution*, 43(1), 223-225.
- Riordan, P., Cushman, S. A., Mallon, D., Shi, K., & Hughes, J. (2015). Predicting global population connectivity and targeting conservation action for snow leopard across its range. *Ecography*, 39(5), 419-426.
- Rodnikova, A., Ims, R. A., Sokolov, A., Skogstad, G., Sokolov, V., Shtro, V., & Fuglei, E. (2011). Red fox takeover of arctic fox breeding den: an observation from Yamal Peninsula, Russia. *Polar Biology*, 34(10), 1609–1614.
- Rousset, F. (2008). GenePop'007: a complete re-implementation of the genepop software for Windows and Linux. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 8(1), 103-106.
- Rueness, E., Jorde, P., Hellborg, L., Stenseth, N., Ellegren, H., & Jakobsen, K. (2003). Cryptic population structure in a large, mobile mammalian predator: the Scandinavian lynx. *Molecular Ecology*, 12(10), 2623-2633.
- Rueness, E. K., Stenseth, N. C., O'donoghue, M., Boutin, S., Ellegren, H., & Jakobsen, K. S. (2003). Ecological and genetic spatial structuring in the Canadian lynx. *Nature*, 425(6953), 69-72.
- Sacks, B. N., Bannasch, D. L., Chomel, B. B., & Ernest, H. B. (2008). Coyotes demonstrate how habitat specialization by individuals of a generalist species can diversify populations in a heterogeneous ecoregion. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 25(7), 1384-1394.
- Sacks, B. N., Brown, S. K., & Ernest, H. B. (2004). Population structure of California coyotes corresponds to habitat-specific breaks and illuminates species history. *Molecular Ecology*, 13(5), 1265-1275.
- Sale, J. (1986). Reintroduction in Indian wildlife management. *Indian Forester*, *112*(10), 867-873.
- Selås, V., & Vik, J. O. (2007). The arctic fox Alopex lagopus in Fennoscandia: a victim of human-induced changes in interspecific competition and predation? *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 16(12), 3575-3583.

- Sillero-Zubiri, C., Hoffmann, M., & Macdonald, D. W. (2004). Canids: foxes, wolves, jackals and dogs: status survey and conservation action plan (2831707862). Gland, Switzerland. Available at: http://www.carnivoreconservation.org/files/actionplans/canids.pdf [Accessed 07.04.2017].
- Slatkin, M. (1987). Gene flow and the geographic structure of natural populations. *Science*, 236(4803), 787-792.
- Smith, D. W., Peterson, R. O., & Houston, D. B. (2003). Yellowstone after wolves. *BioScience*, 53(4), 330-340.
- Spielman, D., Brook, B. W., & Frankham, R. (2004). Most species are not driven to extinction before genetic factors impact them. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(42), 15261-15264.
- Spielman, D., & Frankham, R. (1992). Modeling problems in conservation genetics using captive Drosophila populations: improvement of reproductive fitness due to immigration of one individual into small partially inbred populations. *Zoo Biology*, 11(5), 343-351.
- Stacey, P. B., & Taper, M. (1992). Environmental variation and the persistence of small populations. *Ecological Applications*, *2*(1), 18-29.
- Steidl, R. J., Hayes, J. P., & Schauber, E. (1997). Statistical power analysis in wildlife research. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, *61*(2), 270-279.
- Storfer, A. (1999). Gene flow and endangered species translocations: a topic revisited. *Biological Conservation*, *87*(2), 173-180.
- Strand, O., Landa, A., Linnell, J. D., Zimmermann, B., & Skogland, T. (2000). Social organization and parental behavior in the arctic fox. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 81(1), 223-233.
- Strand, O., Linnell, J. D., Krogstad, S., & Landa, A. (1999). Dietary and reproductive responses of arctic foxes to changes in small rodent abundance. *Arctic*, 53(3), 272-278.
- Stuart, S. N., Chanson, J. S., Cox, N. A., Young, B. E., Rodrigues, A. S., Fischman, D. L., & Waller, R. W. (2004). Status and trends of amphibian declines and extinctions worldwide. *Science*, 306(5702), 1783-1786.
- Stuart, Y. E., Campbell, T., Hohenlohe, P., Reynolds, R. G., Revell, L., & Losos, J. (2014). Rapid evolution of a native species following invasion by a congener. *Science*, 346(6208), 463-466.
- Suarez-Rubio, M., Montealegre, C., Renjifo, L. M., & Renner, S. C. (2015). Returning home: movement strategies of Sub-Andean birds in a modified landscape. *Tropical Conservation Science*, 8(4), 992-998.
- Sugg, D. W., Chesser, R. K., Dobson, F. S., & Hoogland, J. L. (1996). Population genetics meets behavioral ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 11(8), 338-342.

- Surridge, A., Ibrahim, K., Bell, D., Webb, N., Rico, C., & Hewitt, G. (1999). Fine-scale genetic structuring in a natural population of European wild rabbits (Oryctolagus cuniculus). *Molecular Ecology*, 8(2), 299-307.
- Sømme, J. (1932). Kommer fjellreven igjen. *Norges Jæger og Fiskersforbund Tidskrifter, 61*, 495.
- Taberlet, P., Fumagalli, L., Wust-Saucy, A. G., & Cosson, J. F. (1998). Comparative phylogeography and postglacial colonization routes in Europe. *Molecular Ecology* 7(4), 453-464.
- Tallmon, D. A., Luikart, G., & Waples, R. S. (2004). The alluring simplicity and complex reality of genetic rescue. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *19*(9), 489-496.
- Tannerfeldt, M., Angerbjorn, A., & ArvidSon, B. (1994). The effect of summer feeding on juvenile arctic fox survival a field experiment *Ecography*, *17*(1), 88-96.
- Tannerfeldt, M., & Angerbjörn, A. (1996). Life history strategies in a fluctuating environment: establishment and reproductive success in the arctic fox. *Ecography*, 19(3), 209-220.
- Tannerfeldt, M., & Angerbjörn, A. (1998). Fluctuating resources and the evolution of litter size in the arctic fox. *Oikos*, *83*(3), 545-559.
- Tannerfeldt, M., Elmhagen, B., & Angerbjörn, A. (2002). Exclusion by interference competition? The relationship between red and arctic foxes. *Oecologia*, 132(2), 213-220.
- Templeton, A. R. (1998). Nested clade analyses of phylogeographic data: testing hypotheses about gene flow and population history. *Molecular Ecology*, 7(4), 381-397.
- Ulvund, K., Flagstad, Ø., Kleven, O., Landa, A., & Eide, N. E. (2016). Arctic fox in Norway 2016. Results from the national monitoring programme for arctic fox. (1301).
   Trondheim, Norway. Available at: http://hdl.handle.net/11250/2424217 [Accessed 07.04.2017] (In Norwegian).
- Van Oosterhout, C., Hutchinson, W. F., Wills, D. P., & Shipley, P. (2004). Micro-Checker: software for identifying and correcting genotyping errors in microsatellite data. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 4(3), 535-538.
- Vié, J.-C., Hilton-Taylor, C., & Stuart, S. N. (2009). Wildlife in a changing world: an analysis of the 2008 IUCN Red List of threatened species (2831710634). Gland, Switzerland. Available at: https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/RL-2009-001.pdf [Accessed 07.04.2017].
- Vila, C., Sundqvist, A. K., Flagstad, Ø., Seddon, J., Kojola, I., Casulli, A., Sand, H., Wabakken, P., & Ellegren, H. (2003). Rescue of a severely bottlenecked wolf (Canis lupus) population by a single immigrant. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 270(1510), 91-97.
- Vonholdt, B. M., Stahler, D. R., Smith, D. W., Earl, D. A., Pollinger, J. P., & Wayne, R. K. (2008). The genealogy and genetic viability of reintroduced Yellowstone grey wolves. *Molecular Ecology*, 17(1), 252-274.

- Wade, M. J., & McCauley, D. E. (1988). Extinction and recolonization: their effects on the genetic differentiation of local populations. *Evolution*, *42*(5), 995-1005.
- Waser, N. M., & Williams, C. F. (2001). Inbreeding and outbreeding. In C. W. Fox, D. A. Roff,
  & D. J. Fairbairn (Eds.), *Evolutionary ecology: Concepts and case studies* (pp. 84-96).
  Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Weeks, A. R., Sgro, C. M., Young, A. G., Frankham, R., Mitchell, N. J., Miller, K. A., Byrne, M., Coates, D. J., Eldridge, M. D., & Sunnucks, P. (2011). Assessing the benefits and risks of translocations in changing environments: a genetic perspective. *Evolutionary Applications*, 4(6), 709-725.
- Weir, B. S., & Cockerham, C. C. (1984). Estimating F-statistics for the analysis of population structure. *Evolution*, *38*(6), 1358-1370.
- Westemeier, R. L., Brawn, J. D., Simpson, S. A., Esker, T. L., Jansen, R. W., Walk, J. W., Kershner, E. L., Bouzat, J. L., & Paige, K. N. (1998). Tracking the long-term decline and recovery of an isolated population. *Science*, 282(5394), 1695-1698.
- Whiteley, A. R., Fitzpatrick, S. W., Funk, W. C., & Tallmon, D. A. (2015). Genetic rescue to the rescue. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *30*(1), 42-49.
- Wilcove, D. S., Rothstein, D., Dubow, J., Phillips, A., & Losos, E. (1998). Quantifying threats to imperiled species in the United States: assessing the relative importance of habitat destruction, alien species, pollution, overexploitation, and disease. *BioScience*, 48(8), 607-615.
- Willi, Y., Van Buskirk, J., & Hoffmann, A. A. (2006). Limits to the adaptive potential of small populations. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 37*, 433-458.
- Williams, R. N., Rhodes Jr, O. E., & Serfass, T. L. (2000). Assessment of genetic variance among source and reintroduced fisher populations. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 81(3), 895-907.
- Wolf, C. M., Griffith, B., Reed, C., & Temple, S. A. (1996). Avian and mammalian translocations: update and reanalysis of 1987 survey data. *Conservation Biology*, 10(4), 1142-1154.
- Wright, S. (1931). Evolution in Mendelian populations. *Genetics*, 16(2), 97-159.
- Wright, S. (1943). Isolation by distance. Genetics, 28(2), 114.
- Wright, S. (1984). *Evolution and the genetics of populations, volume 3: experimental results and evolutionary deductions*. Chicago, IL. USA: University of Chicago Press.
- Wrigley, R. E., & Hatch, D. R. (1976). Arctic fox migrations in Manitoba. *Arctic, 29*(3), 147-158.

Zetterberg, H. (1945). *Två fredlösa*. Uppsala, Sweden: Almquist & Wiksell.

Østbye, E., Skar, H., Svalastog, D., & Westby, K. (1978). Fjellrev og rødrev på Hardangervidda; hiøkologi, utbredelse og bestandsstatus. *Meddelelser fra Norsk Viltforskning, 3*(4), 1-66 (In Norwegian).

# Appendix

Table A1. Overview of the genetic/geographic background of all captive bred arctic foxes released
into the wild in mid-Scandinavia (n = 90), spanning from 2007 (the first release in mid-Scandinavia)
to 2011 (the most recent release in mid-Scandinavia).

Release	Release Year	Fox ID	Sire	Dam
Knutshø	2008	AF0061	Dividalen	Børgefiell
		AF0065	Dividalen	Børgefiell
		AF0079	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*	(Dividalen/Børgefiell)**/Porsanger vest*
		AF0087	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*	(Dividalen/Børgefiell)**/Porsanger vest*
	2011	AF0207	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*	Helaas
	2011	AE0200	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*	Helags
		ΔE0210	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*	Helags
		ΔE0210	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*	Helags
			Finnmark/Saltfiellet*	Helags
		ΔE0212	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*	Helans
		ΔF0210	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*	Helags
		ΔE0215	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*	Helags
		ΔE0231	Porsander Vest	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*
		ΔE0232	Porsanger Vest	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*
		ΔE0233	Porsanger Vest	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*
		ΔE0234	Porsanger Vest	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*
		AF0235	Porsanger Vest	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*
		AF0236	Porsanger Vest	Finnmark/Saltfiellet*
		74 0200	i bibaliger vebt	- minimuno califycilet
Snøhetta	2007	AF0036	Dividalen	Børgefiell
		AF0037	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0040	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0047	Dividalen/Børgefjell*	Blåfjellet
		AF0053	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0035	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0043	Børgefjell	Dividalen/Børgefjell*
		AF0050	Dividalen/Børgefjell*	Blåfjellet
		AF0051	Dividalen/Børgefjell*	Blåfjellet
		AF0004	Unknown	Unknown
		AF0020	Unknown	Unknown
		AF0030	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0039	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0042	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0044	Børgefjell	Dividalen/Børgefjell*
		AF0038	Dividalen	Børgefjell
	2008	AF0058	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0063	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0081	Finnmark/Saltfjellet*	(Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest*
		AF0088	Finnmark/Saltfjellet*	(Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest*
		AF0029	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0059	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0062	Dividalen	Børgefjell
		AF0071	Børgetjell	Dividalen/Børgetjell*
		AF0072	Børgetjell	Dividalen/Børgetjell*
		AF0077	Børgefjell	Dividalen/Børgefjell*
		AF0078	Børgetjell	Dividalen/Børgetjell*
		AF0080	Finnmark/Saltfjellet*	(Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest*
	2009	AF0086	Finnmark/Saltfjellet*	(Dividalen/Børgetjell)**/Porsanger vest*
		AF0089	Finnmark/Saltfjellet*	(Dividalen/Børgetjell)**/Porsanger vest*
		AF0090	Finnmark/Saltfjellet*	(Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest*

	2010	AF0091 AF0092 AF0094 AF0095 AF0110 AF0111 AF0112 AF0118 AF0120 AF0120 AF0121 AF0122 AF0139 AF0142 AF0143 AF0146 AF0148 AF0150 AF0151 AF0151 AF0187 AF0188 AF0180 AF0141 AF0145 AF0145 AF0147 AF0149 AF0182 AF0181 AF0181 AF0182	Finnmark/Saltfjellet* Finnmark/Saltfjellet* Finnmark/Saltfjellet* Finnmark/Saltfjellet* Saltfjellet Saltfjellet Saltfjellet Saltfjellet Saltfjellet Saltfjellet Saltfjellet Børgefjell Børgefjell Børgefjell Børgefjell Børgefjell Finnmark/Saltfjellet*	(Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest* (Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest* (Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest* (Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest* Reisa Nord Reisa Nord Reisa Nord Reisa Nord Reisa Nord Reisa Nord Reisa Nord Dividalen/Børgefjell*
		AF0180 AF0181 AF0182	Finnmark/Saltfjellet* Finnmark/Saltfjellet*	(Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest* (Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest* (Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest*
		AF0183 AF0184	Finnmark/Saltfjellet* Finnmark/Saltfjellet*	(Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest* (Dividalen/Børgefjell)**/Porsanger vest*
Sylane/ Helags	2008	AF0060 AF0067 AF0069 AF0073 AF0076	Dividalen Dividalen Børgefjell Børgefjell Børgefjell	Børgefjell Børgefjell Dividalen/Børgefjell* Dividalen/Børgefjell* Dividalen/Børgefjell*

\* Sire or Dam born in captivity (Maternal Grand Sire/Maternal Grand Dam)

\*\* Sire/Dam and Grand Sire/ Grand Dam born in captivity (Maternal Grand Grand Sire/Maternal Grand Grand Dam)

**Table A2**. The intensity of conservation actions implemented, and annual records of the rodent phase (low, increasing, peak, declining) in eight mid-Scandinavian subpopulations between 1999 and 2015. Annual conservation intensity in each subpopulation is measured as the number of dens fed, the number of red foxes culled, and the number of captive-bred foxes released each year between 1999 and 2015. Years included in this study are indicated in bold.

			# Red	# Captive bred	
Population	Year	# Dens fed	foxes culled	foxes released	Rodent phase
Blåfjellet/	1999	0	0	0	1
Skjækerfjellet	2000	0	0	0	2
	2001	0	0	0	3
	2002	0	0	0	1
	2003	0	0	0	1
	2004	0	0	0	3
	2005	0	0	0	4
	2006	0	0	0	1
	2007	0	0	0	3
	2008	0	0	0	4
	2009	0	0	0	1
	2010	0	0	0	3
	2011	6	3	0	3
	2012	7	199	0	1
	2013	9	84	0	2
	2014	9	25	0	3
	2015	9	72	0	4
Børgefjell/	1999	0	0	0	1
Borgafjäll	2000	4	4	0	1
	2001	4	0	0	3
	2002	3	4	0	1
	2003	5	4	0	1
	2004	12	18	0	3
	2005	7	32	0	4
	2006	12	27	0	1
	2007	9	14	0	3
	2008	19	28	0	4
	2009	21	32	0	1
	2010	22	27	0	3
	2011	22	17	0	3
	2012	22	38	0	1
	2013	23	13	0	2
	2014	24	14	0	3
	2015	24	15	0	4
				•	-
Farallhaana	1000	0	0	0	0
Forolinogna	1999	0	0	0	2
	2000	0	0	0	3
	2001	0	0	0	4
	2002	0	U	U	1
	2003	U	U	U	3
	2004	0	U	U	4
	2005	0	0	0	1
	2006	0	0	0	2
	2007	0	0	0	3
	2008	0	0	0	4

	2009	0	0	0	2
	2010	0	0	0	3
	2011	0	0	0	4
	2012	2	0	0	1
	2013	2	0	0	3
	2014	2	0	0	4
	2015	2	0	0	1
Hestkjølen	1999	0	0	0	1
	2000	0	0	0	2
	2001	0	0	0	3
	2002	0	0	0	1
	2003	0	0	0	1
	2004	0	0	0	3
	2005	0	0	0	4
	2006	0	0	0	1
	2007	0	0	0	3
	2008	0	0	0	4
	2009	0	0	0	1
	2010	0	0	0	3
	2011	3	0	0	3
	2012	5	57	0	1
	2013	5	12	0	2
	2014	5	5	0	3
	2015	5	28	0	4
Kjølifjellet	1999	0	0	0	1
	2000	0	0	0	2
	2001	0	0	0	3
	2002	0	0	0	4
	2003	0	0	0	1
	2004	0	0	0	2
	2005	0	0	0	3
	2006	0	33	0	1
	2007	0	22	0	3
	2008	0	26	0	4
	2009	0	29	0	1
	2010	0	12	0	3
	2011	4	13	0	3
	2012	5	14	0	1
	2013	5	7	0	2
	2014	5	14	0	3
	2015	5	10	0	4
Knutshø	1999	0	0	0	2
	2000	0	0	0	3
	2001	0	0	0	4
	2002	0	0	0	1
	2003	0	0	0	3
	2004	0	0	0	4
	2005	0	0	0	1
	2006	0	0	0	2
	2007	0	0	0	3

	2008 2009	1 1	0 0	4 0	4 2
	2010	1	0	0	3
	2011	2	0	14	4
	2012	3	0	0	1
	2013	3	0	0	3
	2014	3	5	0	4
	2015	4	0	0	1
0 1 11	4000	<u> </u>		•	
Snønetta	1999	0	0	0	2
	2000	0	0	0	3
	2001	0	0	0	4
	2002	0	0	0	3
	2000	0	0	0	4
	2005	0	0	0	1
	2006	0	0	0	2
	2007	0	0	16	3
	2008	8	0	12	4
	2009	9	0	15	2
	2010	16	0	24	3
	2011	18	0	0	4
	2012	18	0	0	1
	2013	19	0	0	3
	2014	18	0	0	4
	2015	20	0	0	1
Sylane/Helags	1999	10	0	0	1
	2000	7	2	0	2
	2001	12	32	0	3
	2002	7	27	0	4
	2003	5	15	0	1
	2004	8	8	0	2
	2005	9	80 91	0	3
	2000	20	58	0	3
	2007	<b>24</b>	107	5	<b>4</b>
	2009	25	56	0	1
	2010	29	34	0	3
	2011	37	57	0	3
	2012	39	51	0	1
	2013	40	37	0	2
	2014	42	18	0	3
	2015	46	23	0	4

**Table A3.** Minimum population size estimated from eight mid-Scandinavian arctic fox subpopulations from 2008 to 2015 based on DNA analysis of fecal, hair, and tissue samples. See Methods for further information on how samples were obtained in each of the subpopulations.

Population	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Børgefjell/Borgafjäll	26	18	27	16	16	26	40	22
Snøhetta	15	16	33	47	30	30	76	58
Sylane/Helags	24	5	25	37	20	44	44	41
Hestkjølen	1				10	8	5	11
Kjølifjellet					8	5	4	18
Knutshø				1	4	5	10	4
Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet	1	3			3	10	6	5
Forollhogna					1	5	2	2
Total	67	42	85	101	92	133	187	161

**Table A4.** Deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) at eight loci in samples collected in eight mid-Scandinavian arctic fox populations between 2008 and 2015. Deviations are calculated per locus per population based on a reduced dataset containing all unique individuals identified during the study. The critical *p*-value after Bonferroni correction (0.05/64) was 0.008. Significant deviations from HWE based on the Bonferroni corrected critical *p*-value are shown in bold.

Population	Locus	HWE <i>p</i> -value	Population	Locus	HWE <i>p</i> -value
Blåfjellet/Skjækerfjellet	3	0.0067	Kjølifjellet	3	0.0043
	9	0.1209		9	0.2814
	140	0.8777		140	0.0039
	173	0.4197		173	0.3533
	250	0.7449		250	0.0125
	377	0.9370		377	0.6764
	758	0.0623		758	0.2335
	771	0.3374		771	0.1492
Børgefjell/Borgafjäll	3	0.1279	Knutshø	3	0.9293
<b>3</b> , <b>3</b> ,	9	0.1719		9	0.0992
	140	0.7748		140	0.6613
	173	0.5328		173	0.0000
	250	0.0875		250	0.3083
	377	0.2789		377	0.8735
	758	0.0088		758	0.0651
	771	0.0412		771	0.6941
Forollhogna	3	0.0131	Snøhetta	3	0.0984
	9	0.0000		9	0.1597
	140	0.1053		140	0.9587
	173	0.5843		173	0.0941
	250	0.0212		250	0.0078
	377	0.5149		377	0.3359
	758	0.0043		758	0.0108
	771	0.1691		771	0.7747
	0	0.0750	O de se d'Ide le se	0	0.0000
Hestkjølen	3	0.0753	Sylane/Helags	3	0.0062
	9	0.2013		9	0,0000
	140	0.9057		140	0.3147
	1/3	0.2329		1/3	0.4/82
	250	0.9620		25U	0.3043
	3//	0.0101		3//	0.0002
	/58	0.1955		/58	0.0786
	//1	0.6379		//1	0.1245

**Table A5.** Linkage disequilibrium (LD) measured for all loci pairs based on sampled collected in 8 mid-Scandinavian arctic fox populations between 2008 and 2015. Deviations are calculated per locus pair per population based on a reduced dataset containing all unique individuals identified during the study. The critical *p*-value after Bonferroni correction (0.05/224) was 0.0002. Significant deviations from LD based on the Bonferroni corrected critical *p*-value are shown in bold.

Population	Locus	Pair	LD p-value	Population	Locus	Pair	LD p-value
Blåfjellet/	140	173	0.509	Kjølifjellet	140	173	0.235
Skjækerfjellet	140	250	0.129		140	250	0.000
	140	377	0.297		140	377	0.160
	140	758	0.299		140	758	0.182
	opulation         Locus Pair           låfjellet/         140         173           kjækerfjellet         140         250           140         377           140         758           140         771           173         250           173         377           173         758           173         771           250         377           250         758           250         771           3         140           3         173           3         250           3         377           3         250           3         771           3         140           3         173           3         250           3         377           3         758           3         771           3         9           377         758           377         758           377         9           9         758           9         771           9         758           9         771 <td>771</td> <td>0.113</td> <td></td> <td>140</td> <td>771</td> <td>0.976</td>	771	0.113		140	771	0.976
	173	250	0.488		173	250	0.004
	173	377	0.471		173	377	0.425
	173	758	0.388		173	758	0.156
	173	771	0.406		173	771	0.167
	250	377	0.602		250	377	0.061
	250	758	0.371		250	758	0.155
	250	771	0.060		250	771	0.827
	3	140	0.001		3	140	0.000
	3	173	0.208		3	173	0.006
	3	250	0.071		3	250	0.004
	3	377	0 239		3	377	0.300
	3	758	0.315		3	758	0 149
	3	771	0.047		3	771	0.338
	3	9	0.121		3	9	0.152
	377	758	0.684		377	758	0.266
	377	771	0 137		377	771	0.157
	758	771	0.043		758	771	0 244
	9	140	0.233		9	140	0.515
	g	173	0.802		9	173	0.427
	g	250	0.344		9	250	0.040
	g	377	0.399		9	377	0.331
	g	758	0.130		ğ	758	0 722
	9	771	0.024		9	771	0 164
Børgefiell/	140	173	0.041	Knutshø	140	173	0.533
Borgafiäll	140	250	0.004		140	250	0.302
Borgarjan	140	377	0.018		140	377	0.465
	140	758	0 197		140	758	0 199
	140	771	0.079		140	771	0.136
	173	250	0.001		173	250	0.025
	173	377	0.677		173	377	0.564
	173	758	0.003		173	758	0.664
	173	771	0.099		173	771	0.912
	250	377	0.061		250	377	0.207
	250	758	0.000		250	758	0.068
	250	771	0.093		250	771	0.509
	3	140	0.000		3	140	0.874
	3	173	0.058		3	173	0.533
	3	250	0.002		3	250	0.392
	3	377	0.001		3	377	0.041
	3	758	0.000		3	758	0.698
	3	771	0.001		3	771	1.000
	3	9	0.318		3	9	0.085
	377	758	0.263		377	758	0.172
	377	771	0.000		377	771	1.000
	758	771	0.820		758	771	1.000
	9	140	0.002		9	140	0.183
	9	173	0.091		9	173	0.769

	9	250	0.024		9	250	0.980
	9	377	0.392		9	377	0.667
	9	758	0.738		9	758	0.680
	9	771	0.142		9	771	0.786
Forollhogna	140	173	1.000	Snøhetta	140	173	0.000
0	140	250	0.400		140	250	0.000
	140	377	1.000		140	377	0.000
	140	758	1 000		140	758	0.000
	140	771	0 134		140	771	0.000
	173	250	1 000		173	250	0.000
	173	377	1 000		173	377	0.000
	173	758	1.000		173	758	0.000
	173	771	1.000		173	771	0.002
	250	377	0.699		250	377	0.002
	250	758	1 000		250	758	0.004
	250	771	0.200		250	771	0.000
	200	140	0.200		200	1/0	0.000
	3	173	1 000		3	173	0.000
	3	250	0.100		3	250	0.000
	2	230	1 000		2	230	0.000
	2	759	1.000		2	759	0.000
	2	758	0.066		2	750	0.000
	3	0	0.000		ວ ວ	0	0.000
	3 277	9 750	1.000		3 277	9 750	0.000
	311	730	0.407		3// 277	7 JO 7 7 1	0.020
	3/1	771	1.000		3/1	774	0.000
	/ 58	110	1.000		/ 58	111	0.037
	9	140	0.467		9	140	0.000
	9	173	1.000		9	173	0.875
	9	250	1.000		9	250	0.007
	9	377	0.800		9	3//	0.757
	9	758	0.467		9	/58	0.052
	9	//1	1.000		9	//1	0.001
Hestkjølen	140	173	0.150	Sylane/	140	1/3	0.094
	140	250	0.852	Helags	140	250	0.000
	140	377	0.183		140	377	0.030
	140	758	0.130		140	/58	0.068
	140	//1	0.174		140	//1	0.000
	1/3	250	0.889		1/3	250	0.000
	173	377	0.045		173	377	0.026
	1/3	758	0.511		1/3	/58	0.000
	173	771	0.479		173	771	0.317
	250	377	0.476		250	377	0.047
	250	758	0.731		250	/58	0.000
	250	//1	0.937		250	//1	0.000
	3	140	0.068		3	140	0.000
	3	173	0.288		3	173	0.158
	3	250	0.055		3	250	0.002
	3	377	0.602		3	377	0.581
	3	758	0.329		3	758	0.017
	3	771	0.414		3	771	0.002
	3	9	0.900		3	9	0.020
	377	758	0.129		377	758	0.022
	377	771	0.203		377	771	0.000
	758	771	0.394		758	771	0.162
	9	140	0.754		9	140	0.000
	9	173	0.317		9	173	0.565
	9	250	0.034		9	250	0.009
	9	377	0.393		9	377	0.573
	9	758	0.547		9	758	0.002
	9	771	0.687		9	771	0.008

**Table A6.** Pearson correlations between explanatory continuous variables used to model the effects of conservation efforts on inter-annual change in genetic diversity. Explanatory variables include the number of dens fed (DensFed), the number of red foxes culles (RedCulled), and the number of captive-bred foxes released from the Norwegian Captive Breeding Program (ReleasedFoxes). Significant *p*-values are indicated in bold.

Variables	Ν	Correlation	<i>p</i> -value	
DensFed – RedCulled	64	0.292	0.019	
DensFed – ReleasedFoxes	64	-0.012	0.922	
RedCulled – ReleasedFoxes	64	-0.098	0.442	